

NUTRITIONAL BENEFITS OF HIGHER WELFARE ANIMAL PRODUCTS



CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Welfare potential of the production systems being compared
- 3. Key nutrients that may differ between higher- and lower-welfare production systems
 - 3.1 Fat quantity and composition
 - 3.2 Antioxidants
 - 3.3 Iron
- 4. Analysis of nutritional differences between higher- and lower-welfare animal products
 - 4.1 Lamb
 - 4.2 Beef
 - 4.3 Milk
 - 4.4 Pig meat
 - 4.5 Chicken meat
 - 4.6 Eggs
 - 4.7 Salmon and trout
- 5. Summary of findings for each nutrient group
- 6. Conclusions

LIMITATIONS AND FURTHER RESEARCH

GLOSSARY

REFERENCES

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Report compiled for Compassion in World Farming by Heather Pickett¹. Comments were received from Tracey Jones², Emily Lewis-Brown², Phil Brooke² and Heleen van de Weerd². ¹Pickett Animal Welfare Research, ²Compassion in World Farming.

The report is downloadable from ciwf.org/nutrition

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

One of the main reasons cited by consumers for purchasing higher-welfare animal products is a perception that they are healthier. If this perception is true, choosing higher-welfare animal products over intensively-produced animal products could be expected to have a beneficial effect on consumers' health, with potential implications for dietary advice and opportunities for the marketing of higher-welfare animal products on the basis of nutritional advantages.

Conventional production systems typically involve permanent indoor housing and the use of livestock breeds selected for high productivity. The former may restrict opportunities for exercise and behavioural expression, whilst the latter is associated with a number of production-related conditions that may cause serious animal health and welfare problems. In general, extensive farming systems are considered to have the potential for higher animal welfare than intensive systems. Animal products produced in extensive systems that offer greater opportunities for exercise and behavioural expression (e.g. pasturebased, free-range and organic) and/or from less productive breeds (e.g. slower-growing meat chickens) may have nutritional advantages as a result of, for example, the consumption of fresh forage and greater physical activity, altering the quality of the meat, milk and eggs produced by these animals.

A literature review was conducted in order to examine the evidence for a range of nutritional benefits of higher-welfare animal products. The studies selected compared an extensive production system (free-range, organic or other pasture-based system) with an intensive production system (cage, indoor or feedlot system). For chicken, studies were also included that compared slower-growing breeds with conventional fast-growing breeds.

For salmon and trout, data were not available to compare organically-farmed fish with intensivelyfarmed fish. Studies comparing wild-caught fish with intensively-farmed fish were therefore selected. Despite serious welfare concerns regarding common methods of capture, handling and processing of wild-caught fish, wild-caught fish are considered to be the higher welfare option in this study. Farmed salmon and trout are not only subjected to prolonged confinement, but require large numbers of wild-caught fish, subjected to inhumane capture, handling and processing, in order to produce their feed.

Comparative data were available in the scientific literature to allow an analysis of fat content, fat composition, protein content, levels of antioxidants such as vitamin E and beta-carotene, and iron content across a range of species and products. In general, protein content and the overall proportions of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids did not differ consistently between higher and lower-welfare systems; data are therefore not presented. Significant differences were however found in the proportions of omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids, which are relevant to human health: data are therefore presented. Modern western diets are often deficient in omega-3 fatty acids and have excessive amounts of omega-6 fatty acids relative to omega-3. Additionally, an adequate intake of long-chain (≥20 carbon atoms) omega-3 fatty acids is important for brain and heart health, particularly DHA (docosahexaenoic acid) as its synthesis from shorter chain omega-3 within the body is believed to be limited.

For most species, studies published since 2000 were included. However, fewer studies were available for eggs and fish, so studies published since 1990 were included for these. Studies with very small sample sizes, or not published in English, were excluded. Studies (or data within a study) were also excluded where animals in one or other of the systems compared were supplemented with additional quantities of any of the nutrients of interest.

Lamb

There are no consistent differences in total fat content between lamb from pasture-based and intensive systems. However, pasture-reared lamb has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids compared with intensivelyreared lamb. Choosing pasture-reared lamb over intensively-reared lamb would be expected to make a significant contribution to meeting nutritional requirements for long-chain omega-3 fatty acids. This has been demonstrated in human trials, where an increase in long-chain omega-3 fatty acids in blood plasma and platelets was evident following consumption of pasture-reared beef and lamb as opposed to intensively-reared beef and lamb. In Australia, consumption of beef and lamb from predominantly grass-fed animals is estimated to contribute 28% of total dietary intake of long-chain omega-3.

No data were available to compare levels of antioxidants or iron between intensively-reared and pasture-reared lamb.

Beef

Pasture-reared beef contains between 25% and 50% less fat than intensively-reared beef and has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids compared with intensivelyreared beef. Choosing pasture-reared beef over intensively-reared beef would be expected to make a significant contribution to meeting nutritional requirements for long-chain omega-3 fatty acids, as demonstrated in human trials and consumption data from Australia.

Pasture-reared beef contains more vitamin E than intensively-reared beef, with up to 4% of the adult RDA in a 100g serving. Pasture-reared beef also contains more beta-carotene than intensivelyreared beef, although the amounts are small (equivalent to less than 1% of the adult RDA for vitamin A in a 100g serving). No data were available to compare levels of iron between intensively-reared and pasture-reared beef.

Milk

There are no consistent differences in total fat content between milk from pasture-based and intensive systems. However, milk from pasturebased systems has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids compared with milk from intensive systems. The amounts would be expected to make only a relatively minor contribution to dietary intake of omega-3 and the omega-6 to omega-3 ratio is relatively low in all systems.

Milk from pasture-based systems contains more vitamin E than milk from intensive systems, although the amounts are small (less than 1% of the adult RDA in a 100ml serving). Milk from pasture-based systems also contains more betacarotene than milk from intensive systems, but again the amounts are small (equivalent to less than 1.5% of the adult RDA for vitamin A in a 100ml serving). No data were available to compare levels of iron between milk from intensive and pasture-based systems.

Pig meat

There are no consistent differences in total fat content between pig meat from freerange/organic systems and intensive systems. However, pig meat from free-range and organic systems has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids compared with pig meat from intensive systems. The amounts would be expected to make only a relatively minor contribution to dietary intake of omega-3 and the omega-6 to omega-3 ratio is relatively high in all systems. Data from Australia indicate pork contributes around 4% of the long-chain omega-3 intake.

Free-range pig meat contains more vitamin E than intensively-reared pig meat, with up to 5% of the adult RDA in a 100g serving. Free-range pig meat also contains more iron than intensively-reared pig meat, with up to 3.5% of the adult RDA in a 100g serving.

Chicken meat

Both rearing system and breed significantly influence the fat content of chicken meat. Freerange and organic chicken meat often contains less fat than intensively-reared chicken meat, in some cases as much as 50% less. Meat from slower-growing chicken breeds also contains less fat than fast-growing breeds: Generally around 10-30% less for medium-growing strains and around 20-65% less for slow-growing strains.

Free-range and organic chicken meat generally has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids compared with intensively-reared chicken meat, with a similar ratio of omega-6 to omega-3. Similarly, chicken meat from medium-growing strains generally has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids compared with fast-growing strains, with a similar ratio of omega-6 to omega-3. The meat from very slow-growing layer strains (those selected for egg production) has a significantly higher proportion of omega-3 compared with fast- and medium-growing broiler strains (those selected for rapid growth). The breast meat of layer strains also has a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 and is particularly rich in long-chain omega-3, including DHA. Choosing higher-welfare (freerange/organic and slower-growing) chicken over intensively-reared fast-growing chicken would be expected to make a significant contribution to meeting nutritional requirements for long-chain omega-3 fatty acids. Data from Australia indicate consumption of chicken contributes an estimated 10% of total dietary intake of long-chain omega-3.

Based on the limited data available, utilising the males of layer breeds for meat production would be expected to produce meat with significantly higher levels of long-chain omega-3. It is standard practice, however, to kill these male chicks post hatching as they are generally considered uneconomic to rear for meat. Creating a premium market for these birds based on the nutritional qualities of the meat would be highly desirable from an ethical point of view, given the hundreds of millions of male layer chicks killed post hatching in the EU every year.

Levels of vitamin E are higher in the meat of slower-growing strains compared with fastgrowing strains, although the differences are relatively small. Chicken meat from slowergrowing strains and from birds reared organically contains more iron than meat from fast-growing strains and birds reared intensively, with higher welfare options providing around 5-6% of the adult RDA in a 100g serving.

Eggs

There are no consistent differences in total fat content between eggs from free-range/organic systems and battery cage systems. However, freerange and organic eggs generally have a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 compared with battery cage eggs. Some freerange eggs are a particularly rich source of longchain omega-3, including DHA. Choosing freerange eggs over battery eggs would be expected to make a significant contribution to meeting nutritional requirements for long-chain omega-3 fatty acids. Free-range eggs often contain more antioxidants (vitamin E, beta-carotene and lutein) compared with battery cage eggs and are a rich source of vitamin E, providing around 25% of the adult RDA in a 100g (2 eggs) serving. No data were available to compare levels of iron between free-range/ organic and battery cage eggs.

Salmon and trout

Wild salmon generally contains between 40% and 60% less fat than farmed salmon, with a similar proportion of omega-3 fatty acids. Wild trout generally contains between 25% and 80% less fat than farmed trout and contains a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids. Both wild and farmed salmon and trout contain a high proportion of omega-3 fatty acids, including DHA, and can make a substantial contribution to meeting nutritional requirements for long-chain omega-3 fatty acids. However, wild salmon and trout have a lower ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids compared with farmed salmon and trout, which may be beneficial in contributing to a more balanced ratio of these fatty acids in the diet.

Wild trout contains more iron than farmed trout, with around 5% of the adult RDA in a 100g serving. No data were available to compare levels of antioxidants between wild and farmed fish.

Higher-welfare animal products were shown to have a number of nutritional benefits over intensively-reared animal products. Excessive fat consumption can contribute to weight gain and associated health problems. Higher-welfare animal products are often significantly lower in fat than equivalent products from intensively-reared animals. This is true of pasture-reared beef, free-range and organic chicken and chicken of slower-growing breeds, and wild salmon and trout.

Choosing higher-welfare animal products over intensively-reared animal products would be expected to be beneficial in reducing dietary intake of fat, including saturated fat.

Modern western diets are often deficient in omega-3 fatty acids and have excessive amounts of omega-6 fatty acids relative to the amount of omega-3. An adequate intake of long-chain (≥20 carbon atoms) omega-3 fatty acids is particularly important for brain and heart health. Compared with intensively-farmed animal products, higher-welfare animal products typically have higher levels of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids. Wild salmon and trout, pasture-reared lamb and beef, chicken meat from slow-growing layer-type strains and some free-range eggs are particularly beneficial in this respect.

Choosing higher-welfare animal products over intensively-reared animal products would be expected to make a substantial contribution to meeting dietary requirements for long-chain omega-3 fatty acids and achieving a more balanced intake of omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids.

Higher-welfare animal products often contain higher levels of antioxidants, such as vitamin E and beta-carotene, and higher levels of iron, compared with intensively-produced animal products.

Choosing higher-welfare animal products over intensively-reared animal products would be expected to make a moderate contribution to meeting dietary requirements for vitamin E and iron.

1. Introduction

High standards of farm animal welfare and extensive production systems are associated in consumers' minds with healthy, high quality products. When asked to choose up to three reasons why European consumers buy products produced in a more animal-friendly way, the top answer, given by half (51%) the respondents, was that they perceived these products to be healthier (Eurobarometer, 2007).

If this perception is true, choosing higher-welfare animal products over intensively-produced animal products could be expected to have a beneficial effect on consumers' health, with potential implications for dietary advice and opportunities for the marketing of higher-welfare animal products on the basis of nutritional advantages.

Conventional production systems typically involve permanent indoor housing and the use of livestock breeds selected for high productivity. The former may restrict opportunities for exercise and behavioural expression, whilst the latter is associated with a number of production-related conditions that may cause serious animal health and welfare problems. Animal products produced in systems that offer greater opportunities for exercise and behavioural expression (e.g. pasturebased, free-range and organic) and/or from less productive breeds (e.g. slower-growing meat chickens) may have nutritional advantages as a result of, for example, the consumption of fresh forage and greater physical activity. This report examines the evidence for a range of nutritional benefits of higher-welfare animal products, using extensive production as an indication of farming systems with the potential for higher animal welfare.

2. Welfare potential of the production systems being compared

Welfare can be poor in any farming system if stockmanship is poor. However, systems vary in their potential to provide good welfare. Even if stockmanship is good, welfare is likely to be poor in confinement systems that severely restrict freedom of movement or in barren overcrowded conditions that limit behavioural expression.

A farming system that provides for behavioural freedom without compromising health can be described as having high welfare potential. Major concerns for animal welfare arise from farming systems with low welfare potential, i.e. those that fail to meet the behavioural and physical needs of the animal and are therefore likely to cause suffering. The ability of a system to provide good welfare is determined by factors that are built into the system. Building blocks of a good system include the provision of adequate living space and access to resources to meet the needs of the animals.

2.1 Lamb

For lamb, studies were selected that compared a pasture-based system (100% pasture and/or maternal milk with dams also kept at pasture) with an intensive system (finishing indoors or in a feedlot with a ration based on concentrate and cut/conserved forage permitted but no access to pasture).

Sheep who are confined and fed a diet based on concentrate may develop abnormal behaviours such as wool biting (biting and eating the wool of other sheep), considered to be redirected foraging behaviour in sheep deprived of adequate levels of activity or oral stimulus (Vasseur *et al*, 2006): aggression can also be a problem in housed sheep.

With good stockmanship, pasture-based systems can offer sheep a high standard of welfare, providing opportunities for exercise and expression of a wide repertoire of natural behaviours, including foraging and social behaviour. Lambs reared at pasture often benefit from being kept with their dam for an extended period.

2.2 Beef

For beef, studies were selected that compared a pasture-based system (cattle kept at pasture with some supplementation of cut/conserved forage permitted where necessary but no feeding of concentrate) with an intensive system (finishing indoors or in a feedlot with a ration based on concentrate and cut/conserved forage permitted but no access to pasture).

Confined cattle may show increased aggression and abnormal behaviours, such as tongue-rolling and licking of pen fixtures and other cattle, especially when kept in barren systems with slatted floors and high stocking densities (Broom and Fraser, 2007). Such housing conditions are also associated with an increased incidence of lameness, bruising and other injuries (*Ibid.*).

As with sheep, pasture-based systems can offer cattle freedom of movement and behavioural expression and the cow-calf relationship is often maintained over an extended period.

2.3 Milk

For milk, studies were selected that compared an organic or other pasture-based system (cows kept at pasture during the grazing season; supplementation with cut/conserved forage and some concentrate is permitted and cows may be housed over winter) with an intensive system (cows kept largely or entirely indoors and fed a total mixed ration or concentrate and cut/ conserved forage and may also involve some grazing; or conventional retail or bulk milk, which may include milk from a range of systems).

Systems where dairy cows are housed for most or all of the year are associated with a higher risk of health problems and physical injuries. For example, studies in the UK indicate the risk of lameness is doubled when cows are kept permanently indoors compared with cows in grazing herds (Barker *et al*, 2010, Haskell *et al*, 2006).

Pasture-based systems offer cows freedom of movement and opportunities for natural behaviour and there are a large number of studies showing that cows kept on pasture are healthier (EFSA, 2009).

2.4 Pig meat

For pig meat, studies were selected that compared a free-range or organic system with an intensive indoor system.

Intensively-reared pigs are housed in indoor pens, often with high stocking densities and barren slatted floors. In the absence of appropriate substrate to explore, pigs redirect their exploratory behaviour towards pen structures and other pigs, which can lead to damaging behaviours like ear and tail biting. These abnormal behaviours, which cause pain and injury, are a sign that the behavioural needs of pigs are not met (EFSA, 2007). As a result, many intensively-reared pigs have their tails docked and teeth clipped without anaesthetic, despite an EU ban on the routine use of these mutilations. Some higherwelfare indoor systems address this problem by providing enrichment such as straw and higher space allowances.

In free-range and organic systems, pigs have access to the outdoors where they have opportunities for exercise, foraging, rooting and exploration. Strawbedded huts or arcs are provided for shelter.

2.5 Chicken meat

For chicken, studies were selected that compared a free-range or organic system with an indoor system (including intensive, extensive and experimental indoor systems) and/or slowergrowing genotypes with conventional fastgrowing genotypes. For the purposes of this study, the growth rates of the various chicken genotypes were classified as follows:

- Fast-growing broiler-type: Typically reach slaughter weight (≥2kg) in ≤40 days (e.g. Ross 208, Ross 308, Cobb 700, Hybro-G);
- Medium-growing broiler-type: Typically reach slaughter weight (≥2kg) in 49-84 days (e.g. Naked-Neck Kabir, ISA JA57/SA77N.fr Rouge, RedBro Cou Nu/M, Prelux-Bro);
- Slow-growing dual-purpose or layer-type: Typically reach slaughter weight (~2kg) in >100 days (e.g. Dual-purpose: Robusta Maculata, Gushi (Chinese Local Chicken); Layer-type: Brown Classic Lohmann, ISA Brown).

Most broiler (meat) chickens are reared at high stocking densities in large closed sheds. The overcrowded conditions can restrict the birds' ability to move around freely and express natural behaviour.

Broiler chickens are bred for fast growth, efficient feed conversion and large breast meat yield. Standard commercial broilers now reach a slaughter weight of 2 to 2.5kg in 35-40 days compared with 12 weeks 30 years ago. They grow at average rates of 55 to 63g/d and can reach rates of 100g/d near slaughter age. This rapid growth and large breast conformation has resulted in serious health problems and limits the behavioural and physical activity levels of the birds. At least a quarter of commercially-reared fast-growing broilers are likely to experience pain as a result of lameness (Knowles et al, 2008; Danbury et al, 2000). Fast-growing broilers also suffer from a number of cardiovascular disorders, which can cause sudden death and are responsible for a major portion of flock mortality (Julian, 2005).

Chickens in free-range and organic systems are reared at lower stocking densities and have access to the outdoors. They are reared to higher slaughter ages and are usually moderately slowergrowing breeds. Extensive indoor systems use significantly lower stocking densities than conventional systems, usually provide enrichment to encourage greater physical activity, and often use moderately slower-growing breeds.

2.6 Eggs

For eggs, studies were selected that compared a free-range or organic system with a battery cage system.

In conventional battery cages, each hen has just 550cm² of floor space, an area less than an A4 sheet of typing paper. They are unable to stretch, flap their wings or turn around without difficulty, and are prevented from carrying out most species-specific patterns of behaviour, including foraging, perching, dustbathing and laying their eggs in a nest. Conventional battery cages are prohibited across the EU from 2012. However, "enriched" cages continue to be permitted. These cages contain a nest, perch and a small amount of litter material but still provide insufficient space and height and fail to meet many of the behavioural needs of hens (Compassion in World Farming, 2007).

Hens in free-range and organic systems are kept in loose housing with elevated perches and litter material and have outdoor access, allowing them freedom of movement and the ability to express a wide repertoire of natural behaviours.

2.7 Salmon and trout

For salmon and trout, data were not available to compare organically-farmed fish with intensivelyfarmed fish. Studies were therefore selected that compared wild-caught fish with intensivelyfarmed fish.

Intensive fish farming practices often cause stress and poor welfare. Farmed fish are usually stocked at very high densities, which can have a detrimental impact on their health and welfare, especially for species that do not naturally live in close-schooling shoals. High densities can lead to increased incidence of physical injuries, stress, and susceptibility to disease; poor water guality and increased aggression (Håstein, 2004). The behaviour of farmed fish is severely restricted. Species like salmon would naturally swim great distances at sea. Confined in cages, farmed fish are unable to escape from dangers such as poor water quality or attack by predators (including other fish). Mortality rates of farmed fish are often very high compared with other farmed animals (Poppe et al, 2002).

There are also serious welfare concerns regarding common methods of capture, handling and processing of wild-caught fish. However, in addition to farmed fish being subjected to prolonged confinement, large numbers of wildcaught fish are subjected to inhumane capture, handling and processing in order to produce feed for farmed salmon and trout, whereas wild salmon and trout consume wild animals directly. Therefore, wild-caught fish are considered to be the higher-welfare option for the purposes of this study.

3. Key nutrients that may differ between higher- and lower-welfare production systems

The nutritional quality of animal products is influenced by many factors, including the species, breed, age and sex of the animal, the system in which the animal was reared, the composition of the animal's diet, the geographical location, climate and season.

In addition, there may be significant differences in measurements of nutrient composition between different laboratories and with different methodology of the analyses.

Comparative data were available in the scientific literature to allow an analysis of fat content, fat composition, protein content, levels of antioxidants such as vitamin E and beta-carotene, and iron content across a range of species and products. In general, protein content and the overall proportions of saturated and unsaturated fatty acidsⁱ did not differ consistently between higher and lower-welfare systems, so data for these aspects are not presented. Significant differences were found in the proportions of omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids, which are relevant to human health, so the data presented for fat composition focus on these aspects. The roles of these nutrients in our diet, and the reasons why levels may differ between animal products from intensive and extensive systems, are discussed below. ^{i.} The proportion of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) was often found to be higher in extensively-reared animal products and the proportion of monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) was often higher in intensively-reared animal products but the overall proportion of unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA and MUFA combined) generally did not differ consistently. A certain amount of specific polyunsaturated fatty acids is essential in the diet but there is no RDA set for total PUFA or total MUFA in the EU. Replacement of saturated fat in the diet with a mixture of PUFA and MUFA is considered beneficial (EFSA, 2010) but there are no clear nutritional or health benefits of consuming higher amounts of total PUFA over total MUFA or vice versa. It was therefore decided not to present data on the differences in levels of total PUFA and total MUFA between intensive and extensive animal products due to the limited relevance of the findings for human health and nutrition.

3.1 Fat quantity and composition

Fat is an important source of energy in the diet and facilitates the absorption of fat-soluble vitamins and carotenoids. However, fat is very energy dense (containing 9Kcal/g compared with 4Kcal/g for protein and carbohydrate) and excessive fat consumption can contribute to weight gain and associated health problems. Highfat diets may decrease insulin sensitivity and are positively associated with certain risk factors for cardiovascular disease (EFSA, 2010). Nutritional guidelines generally recommend total fat should be limited to no more than 30-35% of energy intake, with less than 10% of energy intake (or as little as possible within the context of a nutritionally adequate diet) coming from saturated fat (Ibid.).

The greater opportunity for exercise in extensive systems (and in more active breeds) may be expected to result in a reduction in the fat content of meat. Based on the studies reviewed in this report, saturated fatty acids generally make up around 20-25% of total fatty acids in salmon and trout, 30-40% in chicken and eggs, 30-50% in meat and 60-75% in milk. Given that the fat in animal products generally contains a significant proportion of saturated fat (irrespective of the production system) consumption of animal products with reduced fat content would be expected to facilitate a reduction in consumption of saturated fat as well as total fat.

In addition to the total amount of fat, the composition of the fat is important. Key differences in diet between intensive and extensive systems, in particular the consumption of fresh forage, influence the composition of fat in animal tissues, especially the levels of omega-3 fatty acids.

Essential polyunsaturated fatty acids can be divided into two groups: omega-3 and omega-6. These two groups have different and often opposing roles in the body. For example, omega-3 fatty acids have anti-inflammatory properties and omega-6 fatty acids have pro-inflammatory properties (Simopoulos, 2006).

The two groups compete for positions in cell membranes within the body and hence the composition of these membranes is dependent to a great extent on dietary intake (*Ibid.*). A number of experts have therefore highlighted the importance of achieving an appropriate balance in the amounts of each group consumed (Simopoulos, 2008; Hibbeln *et al*, 2006; Simopoulos, 2006; Cordain *et al*, 2005; Muskiet *et al*, 2004).

Modern western diets are often deficient in omega-3 fatty acids and have excessive amounts of omega-6 fatty acids relative to the amount of omega-3 (Simopolous, 2008, Hibbeln *et al*, 2006; Simopoulos, 2006; Cordain *et al*, 2005).

Anthropological and epidemiological studies indicate human beings evolved on a diet with a ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 of around 1:1, whereas in current Western diets the ratio is 15:1 to 16.7:1 (Simopoulos, 2008).

A review of the scientific evidence by Simopoulos (2008) suggests that insufficient omega-3, and an imbalance of the ratio of omega-6 to omega-3, promotes a number of serious diseases, including cardiovascular disease, cancer, osteoporosis, and inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. A ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 of 4:1 was associated with a 70% decrease in total mortality in patients with cardiovascular disease; a ratio of 2.5:1 reduced rectal cell proliferation in patients with colorectal cancer, whereas a ratio of 4:1 with the same amount of omega-3 had no effect; a lower omega-6 to omega-3 ratio in women with breast cancer was associated with decreased risk; a ratio of 2-3:1 suppressed inflammation in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, and a ratio of 5:1 had a beneficial effect on patients with asthma, whereas a ratio of 10:1 had adverse consequences.

The omega-3 fatty acids can be further subdivided into long-chain omega-3 (those containing 20 or more carbon atoms) and shorter chain omega-3. The major long-chain omega-3 fatty acids are EPA (eicosapentaenoic acid), DPA (docosapentaenoic acid) and DHA (docosahexaenoic acid) and the major shorterchain omega-3 is ALA (alpha-linolenic acid). ALA can be converted into the longer-chain versions in the body but the process is relatively inefficient, especially for DHA (Muskiet et al, 2004). It is therefore important to obtain sufficient longchain omega-3 directly from the diet and a number of bodies have set recommended levels at around 200 to 500mg per day for EPA and DHA combined (EFSA, 2010; Harris et al, 2009).

Since conversion of shorter chain omega-3 to DHA within the body is believed to be limited, an additional 100 to 200mg per day of pre-formed DHA is recommended for pregnant and lactating women in order to provide sufficient DHA for the developing brain of the foetus (EFSA, 2010). Hibbeln et al (2006) attempted to establish healthy intakes of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids based on the burden of cardiovascular disease and mental illness that can be attributed to insufficient dietary intake of long-chain omega-3. They investigated dietary intakes of long-chain omega-3, the long-chain fatty acid composition of body tissuesⁱⁱ and the prevalence of morbidity and mortality from various cardiovascular and mental illnesses in 38 countries around the world. They concluded the burden of disease potentially attributable to deficiencyiii in long-chain omega-3 is over 40% for coronary heart disease mortality, over 30% for stroke mortality, over 25% for

3.2 Antioxidants

Antioxidants are naturally occurring compounds that can neutralise free radicals (highly reactive molecules that damage body cells). Antioxidants are thought to prevent some of the processes involved in the development of cancer (protecting DNA from oxidative damage) and cardiovascular disease (inhibiting oxidative damage to LDL (low density lipoprotein or "bad") cholesterol) (Schönfeldt and Holden, 2009).

Vitamin E acts as an antioxidant in cell membranes and plasma lipoproteins (complex aggregates of lipid (fat) molecules and protein molecules) and is especially important in limiting damage from freeradicals generated during the oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids. There is epidemiological evidence that high intakes of vitamin E are associated with lower incidence of cardiovascular disease (Bender, 2009). Alphatocopherol is the most biologically active form of vitamin E. The adult recommended daily allowance (RDA) for vitamin E in the EU is 12mg (Council Directive 90/496/EEC). cardiovascular disease mortality and between 65% and 99.9% for various forms of depression, although the authors suggest the figures for certain types of depression are likely to be overestimates. They recommend an intake of longchain omega-3 equivalent to that seen in Japan would be expected to protect more than 98% of the population from increased risk of these conditions. This equates to 0.37% of energy from long-chain omega-3 or 750mg/day for EPA, DPA and DHA combined, resulting in a tissue composition of approximately 60% omega-3 in total long-chain fatty acids. However, due to varying levels of omega-6 intake, the intake of long-chain omega-3 required to achieve a comparable tissue composition ranged from less than 300mg/day in the Philippines to over 3500mg/day in the US.

Carotenoids, such as beta-carotene and lutein, also act as antioxidants. There is epidemiological evidence that diets rich in carotenoids are associated with a lower incidence of cancer and cardiovascular disease, although intervention studies using beta-carotene supplements have not demonstrated this (Bender, 2009) and it is therefore recommended that beta-carotene be obtained from food rather than from supplements (Taylor Mayne, 1996). In addition to their role as antioxidants, certain carotenoids can be converted into vitamin A in the body (provitamin A carotenoids).

There is no specific RDA set for any of the carotenoids in terms of their antioxidant function. The adult RDA for vitamin A in the EU is 800µg (Council Directive 90/496/EEC). 12µg of beta-carotene is equivalent to 1µg of retinol (pre-formed vitamin A) (Bender, 2009). In terms of its role as a precursor of vitamin A therefore, 9600µg of beta-carotene would be equivalent to the RDA for vitamin A. Lutein is a non-provitamin A carotenoid and therefore there is no RDA for lutein.

Fresh forage generally contains higher levels of antioxidants than conserved forage and concentrate feeds, which may be expected to translate into higher levels of antioxidants in the meat, milk and eggs produced from animals grazing pasture compared with those confined indoors.

^{ii.} Estimated based on dietary intakes of LA, ALA, AA and EPA+DPA+DHA.

^{iii.}Defined as "an increased risk of chronic diseases for which substantial efficacy data exist and for which these nutrients reduce pathophysiologic mechanisms".

3.3 Iron

Iron facilitates many metabolic functions, including the transport of oxygen in the blood (via haemoglobin) and the storage of oxygen in muscles (via myoglobin). Iron is also a component of various enzymes that are critical for the production of energy from food and for immune system functioning (Strain and Cashman, 2009). Iron deficiency causes anaemia, which is associated with fatigue, restlessness and impaired work performance and can adversely affect psychomotor and mental development of children (*Ibid.*). The adult RDA for iron in the EU is 14mg (Council Directive 90/496/EEC). The greater physical activity of animals reared in extensive systems would be expected to lead to an increase in myoglobin in the muscles, and therefore to an increase in the iron content of the muscles which are eaten as meat. The breed of animal may also be expected to affect iron levels. Breeds of animal that have been selected for increased growth rate and altered body conformation, such as fast-growing meat chickens, are relatively inactive, which would be expected to reduce the myoglobin (and hence the iron) content of the meat.

4. Analysis of nutritional differences between higher- and lower-welfare animal products

A literature review was conducted to identify studies comparing the nutritional composition of animal products from intensive and extensive systems. For most species, studies were included that were published since 2000. However, fewer studies were available for eggs and fish so studies published since 1990 were included for these.

Studies with very small sample sizes and studies not published in English were excluded. Studies (or data within a study) were also excluded where animals in one or other of the systems to be compared were supplemented with additional quantities of any of the nutrients of interest, either through direct supplementation with the nutrient (above levels normally added to conventional feedstuffs) or through the use of feedstuffs specifically selected for their high levels of the nutrient (e.g. fishmeal or linseed for omega-3 fatty acids). Some studies also examined other aspects of food quality or safety but these aspects are beyond the remit of this analysis and are not examined here.

In some cases, mean values were used from multiple sets of data presented in a study. This may apply, for example, where studies present data for several muscle types or from several production systems that are equivalent from an animal-welfare perspective (e.g. multiple grazing systems with different species composition of the pasture). For chicken, data for different muscle types were not pooled because of the major differences in composition between breast meat and leg/thigh meat. Where a range of slaughter ages and/or weights were compared in a study, the data used here were those considered most representative of commercial practice.

4.1 Lamb

The total amount of intramuscular fat (i.e. fat content of lean meat trimmed of visible fat) is

generally similar in lamb from intensive and pasture-based systems, with most studies that measured this reporting no significant difference (Panea *et al*, 2011; Valvo *et al*, 2005; Santos Silva *et al*, 2002).

However, the composition of the fat is markedly different between intensive and pasture-reared lamb. The proportion of omega-3 fatty acids is between one third and five times higher in pasture-reared lamb (Fig. 1). The ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids is between 20% and 84% lower in pasture-reared lamb compared with intensively-reared lamb (Panea et al, 2011; Kitessa et al, 2010; Araba et al, 2009; Nuernberg et al, 2008; Caparra et al, 2007; Diaz et al, 2005; Nuernberg et al, 2005; Valvo et al, 2005; Santos-Silva et al, 2002; Sanudo et al, 2000). All the pasture-reared lamb has a healthy low omega-6/omega-3 ratio of between 0.6 and 3.1. The ratio is more variable for intensively-reared lamb, ranging from 1.3 to 8.4.

A number of studies report the amount of omega-3 per 100g of lean meat, ranging from 31 to 78mg in intensively-reared lamb and from 65 to 130mg in pasture-reared lamb (Kitessa *et al*, 2010; Nuernberg *et al*, 2008; Diaz *et al*, 2005; Nuernberg *et al*, 2005; Sanudo *et al*, 2000). In some cases, levels may be much higher, with omega-3 representing over a quarter (Caparra *et al*, 2007) or as much as one third (Valvo *et al*, 2005) of total fatty acids in pasture-reared lamb (Fig. 1). The latter is equivalent to around 400mg of omega-3 per 100g of lean meat (including 240mg longchain omega-3, of which 68mg is DHA).^{iv.} Typically around half or more of the omega-3 in lamb is made up of long-chain (\geq 20 carbons) omega-3 (Fig. 1).

These amounts are significant in terms of human nutritional requirements (see Section 3.1) and indicate pasture-reared lamb can make a

significant contribution to meeting nutritional requirements for long-chain omega-3. This is supported by data from Australia, where consumption of beef and lamb from predominantly grass-fed animals is estimated to contribute 28% of total dietary intake of longchain omega-3 (Howe *et al*, 2006).

Figure 1. Omega-3 content and percentage difference between lamb from intensive and pasture-

based systems. The lower (darker shaded) section of each bar represents long-chain (≥20 carbons) omega-3. The upper (lighter shaded) section of each bar represents 18-carbon omega-3. Bars represent the total omega-3 fatty acids measured in each study, which may not necessarily include all omega-3 fatty acids present in the samples. Studies are included if they present data for at least one of the major long-chain omega-3 fatty acids (EPA, DPA and/or DHA) and the major shorter-chain omega-3 fatty acid (ALA).



A short-term (4-week) study by McAfee *et al* (2011) found a measurable effect of consumption of grass-fed beef and lamb on levels of omega-3 in human blood. Volunteers consumed around 470g per week of either grass-fed beef and lamb or beef and lamb from animals finished intensively on a concentrate-based diet. After four weeks, mean levels of long-chain omega-3 in blood plasma and platelets were increased in those people consuming the grass-fed products and decreased in those people consuming the end of the trial, the proportion of long-chain omega-3 was 62% higher in the plasma and 23% higher in the

platelets of those people who consumed grass-fed products compared with those who consumed concentrate-fed products. Both these differences were highly statistically significant (P<0.01 and P<0.001 respectively). These data indicate that consuming moderate amounts of beef and lamb from animals reared at pasture rather than animals reared intensively can rapidly have a beneficial effect on levels of long-chain omega-3 fatty acids.

No data were available to compare levels of antioxidants or iron between intensively-reared and pasture-reared lamb.

^{iv.} Based on total intramuscular fat of 1.31 g/100g reported by Valvo *et al* (2005) and a conversion factor of 0.916 to give total fatty acids in fat in lean lamb (from MAFF, 1998).

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR LAMB

- There are no consistent differences in total intramuscular fat content between lamb from pasturebased and intensive systems;
- Pasture-reared lamb has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids compared with intensively-reared lamb;
- Pasture-reared lamb can make a significant contribution to meeting nutritional requirements for long-chain omega-3 fatty acids and in some cases contains appreciable amounts of DHA;
- An increase in long-chain omega-3 fatty acids in blood plasma and platelets has been demonstrated in human trials following consumption of pasture-reared beef and lamb as opposed to intensively-reared beef and lamb.

4.2 Beef

The total amount of intramuscular fat is between 25% and 47% lower in pasture-reared beef compared with intensively-reared beef (Fig. 2). Under EU legislation (Regulation (EC) No. 1924/2006) food products can be labelled as "low in fat" if they contain less than 3g of fat per 100g. In all of the studies, pasture-reared beef trimmed of visible fat would qualify as a low-fat product, compared with only two out of eight studies for intensively-reared beef.

There are significant differences in fat composition between intensively-reared and pasture-reared beef. The proportion of omega-3 fatty acids is generally between two and five times higher in pasture-reared beef (except for one study where the difference was not statistically significant) (Fig. 3). Also, the ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids is between 35% and 85% lower in pasture-reared beef compared with intensively-reared beef (Alfaia *et al*, 2009; Garcia *et al*, 2008; Latimori *et al*, 2008; Leheska *et al*, 2008; Ponnampalam *et al*, 2006; Descalzo *et al*, 2005; Realini *et al*, 2004; Varela *et al*, 2004). All the pasture-reared beef has a healthy low omega-6 to omega-3 ratio of between 1.4 and 3.7. The ratio is more variable for intensively-reared beef, ranging from 2.8 to 14.2.

Two studies report the amount of omega-3 per 100g of lean meat: Garcia *et al* (2008) found levels of 32mg in intensively-reared beef and 84mg in pasture-reared beef; Ponnampalam *et al* (2006) found levels of 76mg in intensively-reared beef and 129mg in pasture-reared beef. These levels are generally comparable with the levels found in lamb (see Section 4.1).

Figure 2. Intramuscular fat content and percentage difference between beef from intensive and pasture-based systems.



Figure 3. Omega-3 content and percentage difference between beef from intensive and pasturebased systems. The lower (darker shaded) section of each bar represents long-chain (≥20 carbons) omega-3. The upper (lighter shaded) section of each bar represents 18-carbon omega-3. n.s. = difference not

statistically significant. Bars represent the total omega-3 fatty acids measured in each study, which may not necessarily include all omega-3 fatty acids present in the samples. Studies are included if they present data for at least one of the major long-chain omega-3 fatty acids (EPA, DPA and/or DHA) and the major shorter-chain omega-3 fatty acid (ALA).



However, compared with lamb, a higher proportion of the omega-3 in beef is made up of ALA, with typically less than half being long-chain omega-3 (Fig. 3). Nonetheless, both pasture-reared lamb and pasture-reared beef can make a significant contribution to meeting human nutritional requirements for long-chain omega-3 (see Section 3.1 and Section 4.1).

Based on the findings of Garcia et al (2008) and Ponnampalam et al (2006), a person would have to consume between 1.7 and 2.6 times the quantity of intensively-reared beef, and thus between 2.8 and 3.5 times the quantity of fat (Table 1), in order to obtain the same amount of omega-3 found in a 100g serving of pasturereared beef. In light of nutritional advice to limit intake of fat, especially saturated fat (see Section 3.1) and to restrict consumption of red meat to no more than 500g per week (World Cancer Research Fund, 2011), the potential contribution of intensively-reared beef to meeting long-chain omega-3 requirements is greatly limited compared with the potential contribution of pasture-reared beef, within the confines of a healthy balanced diet.

In addition to being lower in fat and having a more favourable fatty acid composition, pasturereared beef also contains higher levels of antioxidants. Levels of vitamin E are between 34% and 161% higher in pasture-reared beef compared with intensively-reared beef (Fig. 4). A 100g serving of beef from a pasture-based system provides between 0.2mg and 0.5mg of vitamin E, which is equivalent to between 1.7% and 4.2% of the RDA (see Section 2.2). A 100g serving of intensively-reared beef provides between 0.08mg and 0.3mg of vitamin E, which is equivalent to between 0.7% and 2.5% of the RDA.

Levels of beta-carotene are between 335% and 700% higher for pasture-reared beef (Fig. 5). Levels range from 16µg to 74µg per 100g of meat for beef from pasture-based systems and from 2 to 17µg/100g for intensively-reared beef. These amounts are relatively low in terms of the role of beta-carotene as a precursor of vitamin A, equivalent to less than 1% of the RDA for vitamin A. No data were available to compare levels of iron between intensively-reared and pasturereared beef.

Table 1: Comparison of intramuscular fat and omega-3 levels in beef from intensive and pasture-

based systems. Within studies, statistically significant differences are indicated by different superscript letters (lower case = P<0.05; upper case = P<0.001).

REFERENCE	Garcia <i>et al</i> 2008		Ponnampalam e <i>t al</i> 2006	
Production system	PASTURE	INTENSIVE	PASTURE	INTENSIVE
Intramuscular fat (g/100g lean meat)	2.86ª	3.85 ^b	2.35 ^A	3.87 ^B
Omega-3 (mg/100g lean meat)	84 ^A	32 ^B	129 [^]	76 ^в
Product consumed to obtain the same amount of omega-3 as in 100g of pasture-reared product (g)		263		170
Fat consumed to obtain the same amount of omega-3 as in 100g of pasture-reared product (g)		10.1		6.6

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR BEEF

- Pasture-reared beef contains less intramuscular fat than intensively-reared beef;
- Pasture-reared beef has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids compared with intensively-reared beef;
- Pasture-reared beef can make a significant contribution to meeting nutritional requirements for long-chain omega-3 fatty acids;
- An increase in long-chain omega-3 fatty acids in blood plasma and platelets has been demonstrated in human trials following consumption of pasture-reared beef and lamb as opposed to intensively-reared beef and lamb;
- Pasture-reared beef contains more vitamin E than intensively-reared beef, with up to 4% of the adult RDA in a 100g serving;
- Pasture-reared beef contains more beta-carotene than intensively-reared beef, although the amounts are relatively small (equivalent to less than 1% of the adult RDA for vitamin A in a 100g serving).

Figure 4. Vitamin E content and percentage difference between beef from intensive and pasturebased systems.



Figure 5. Beta-carotene content and percentage difference between beef from intensive and pasture-based systems.



4.3 Milk

Milk fat content ranges from 3.2% to 4.6% in the studies reviewed. There are no consistent differences in the total amount of fat between milk from intensive and pasture-based systems. Some studies report higher levels of fat in milk from intensive systems (Couvreur et al, 2006; Schroeder et al, 2005; White et al, 2001) whilst other studies report higher levels in milk from organic and other pasture-based systems (Butler et al, 2011; Slots et al, 2009; Kay et al, 2005; Leiber et al, 2005). In either case, the total amount of fat may be less relevant from a nutritional perspective for milk as consumers often choose milk or milk products with part (semi-skimmed) or most (skimmed) of the fat removed. Milk fat is considered useful however in the processing of milk into products such as cheese, butter and cream. The composition of the fat may therefore be more important than the actual amount, since these products generally have a high fat content regardless of the original fat content of the milk.

There are significant differences in fat composition between milk from intensive and pasture-based systems. The proportion of omega-3 fatty acids is between 50% and 184% higher in milk from pasture-based systems (Fig. 6). Also, the ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids is between 30% and 79% lower in milk from pasture-based systems compared with milk from intensive systems (Butler *et al*, 2011; Bilik *et al*, 2010; Slots *et al*, 2009; Ellis *et al*, 2006; Leiber *et al*, 2005). All the milk from pasture-based systems has a healthy low omega-6 to omega-3 ratio of between 1.0 and 3.5. Although generally higher, the omega-6 to omega-3 ratio for milk from intensive systems is also relatively low, at between 2.5 and 5.1.

Based on typical omega-3 proportions in milk fat of 0.5% in milk from intensive systems and 1% in milk from pasture-based systems, and a typical milk fat content of 4%, amounts of omega-3 would be expected to be in the region of 19mg and 38mg per 100ml of milk from intensive and pasture-based systems, respectively.^{v.} Most of this is made up of ALA, with typically 20% or less being long-chain omega-3 (Fig. 6). These amounts are relatively small in terms of human nutritional requirements (see Section 2.1). However, although milk may not be an especially rich source of omega-3 by itself, within the context of a diet where most or all animal products are sourced from extensive systems, consumption of milk from pasture-based systems rather than intensive systems would be expected to further contribute to meeting requirements for omega-3 intake and achieving a healthy balance of omega-6 to omega-3.

^{v.} Based on a conversion factor of 0.945 to give total fatty acids in milk fat (from MAFF, 1998).

Figure 6. Omega-3 content and percentage difference between milk from intensive and pasture-

based systems. The lower (darker shaded) section of each bar represents long-chain (≥20 carbons) omega-3. The upper (lighter shaded) section of each bar represents 18-carbon omega-3. Bars represent the total omega-3 fatty acids measured in each study, which may not necessarily include all omega-3 fatty acids present in the samples. Studies are included if they present data for at least one of the major long-chain omega-3 fatty acids (EPA, DPA and/or DHA) and the major shorter-chain omega-3 fatty acid (ALA). * Data from La Terra *et al* (2010) are % of lipids rather than % of fatty acids.



Figure 7. Vitamin E content and percentage difference between milk from intensive and pasturebased systems.

n.s. = difference not statistically significant.



Figure 8. Beta-carotene content and percentage difference between milk from intensive and pasture-based systems.

n.s. = difference not statistically significant.



Milk from pasture-based systems contains higher levels of antioxidants. Levels of vitamin E are generally between 24% and 58% higher in milk from pasture-based systems compared with intensive systems (except for one comparison where the difference was not significant) (Fig. 7). However, the levels are relatively low in terms of human nutritional requirements. Based on a typical milk fat content of 4%, a 100ml serving of milk from a pasture-based system provides between 0.06mg and 0.13mg of vitamin E, which is equivalent to between 0.5% and 1% of the RDA (see Section 3.2). A 100ml serving of milk from an intensive system provides between 0.05mg and 0.08mg of vitamin E, which is equivalent to between 0.4% and 0.7% of the RDA.

between 0.4% and 0.7% of the RDA. Levels of beta-carotene are generally between 60% and 436% higher for milk from pasturebased systems (except for one comparison where the difference was not significant) (Fig. 8). However, the levels are relatively low in terms of human nutritional requirements. Based on a typical milk fat content of 4%, a 100ml serving of milk from a pasture-based system provides between 64µg and 128µg of beta-carotene, which is equivalent to between 0.7% and 1.3% of the RDA for vitamin A (see Section 3.2). A 100ml serving of milk from an intensive system provides between 52µg and 81µg of beta-carotene, which is equivalent to between 0.5% and 0.8% of the RDA for vitamin A.

No data were available to compare levels of iron between milk from intensive and pasture-based systems.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR MILK

- There are no consistent differences in total fat content between milk from pasture-based systems and intensive systems;
- Milk from pasture-based systems has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids compared with milk from intensive systems, although the amounts would be expected to make only a relatively minor contribution to dietary intake of omega-3 and the omega-6 to omega-3 ratio is relatively low in all systems;
- Milk from pasture-based systems contains more vitamin E than milk from intensive systems, although the amounts are relatively small (less than 1% of the adult RDA in a 100ml serving);
- Milk from pasture-based systems contains more beta-carotene than milk from intensive systems, although the amounts are relatively small (equivalent to less than 1.5% of the adult RDA for vitamin A in a 100ml serving).

4.4 Pig meat

The total amount of intramuscular fat is highly variable, ranging from 1.2g to 9.0g per 100g of lean meat, and there are no consistent differences in total fat content between pig meat from intensive and extensive systems. Some studies report higher levels of fat in intensively-reared pig meat (Trombetta et al, 2009; Hansen et al, 2006) whilst other studies report higher levels in freerange pig meat (Butko et al, 2007; Carrapiso et al, 2007; Ventanas et al, 2007) and others report no significant difference (Kim et al, 2009; Gonzalez & Tejeda, 2007; Bee et al, 2004; Hoffman et al, 2003; Nilzen et al, 2001). Two of the three studies showing a higher fat content in free-range pig meat are traditional Spanish outdoor systems for the production of Iberian ham (Carrapiso et al, 2007; Ventanas et al, 2007), where the higher fat

content of the meat can be explained by the large quantities of acorns in the diet of the free-range pigs. These are naturally high in monounsaturated fat and contribute to achieving the desired sensory characteristics of the finest commercial grade of Iberian ham.

There are significant differences in the composition of the fat between indoor and extensive systems. The proportion of omega-3 fatty acids is higher in free-range pig meat, although the difference is not statistically significant in three studies. Where significant differences are found, the proportion of omega-3 is between 18% and 43% higher for free-range pig meat and 291% higher for organic pig meat than that from intensive systems (Fig. 9).

Figure 9. Omega-3 content and percentage difference between pig meat from intensive and freerange/organic systems. The lower (darker shaded) section of each bar represents long-chain (≥20 carbons) omega-3. The upper (lighter shaded) section of each bar represents 18-carbon omega-3. n.s. = difference not statistically significant. Bars represent the total omega-3 fatty acids measured in each study, which may not necessarily include all omega-3 fatty acids present in the samples. Studies are included if they present data for at least one of the major long-chain omega-3 fatty acids (EPA, DPA and/or DHA) and the major shorterchain omega-3 fatty acid (ALA).



The majority of studies report a lower ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids for free-range pig meat, ranging from a 7% to 42% reduction compared with intensively-reared pig meat (Soto *et al*, 2009; Ventanas *et al*, 2007; Bee *et al*, 2004). Two studies report no significant difference (Oksbjerg *et al*, 2005; Nilzen *et al*, 2001). Kim *et al* (2009) report a 53% lower omega-6 to omega-3 ratio for organic pig meat compared with intensively-reared pig meat. However, the omega-6 to omega-3 ratio is relatively high for pig meat from all systems, ranging from 11.8 to 18.1 for extensive systems and from 12.4 to 31.2 for intensive systems.

Based on typical omega-3 proportions of 1% of fatty acids in intramuscular fat in intensivelyreared pig meat and 1.4% in pig meat from extensive systems, and a typical fat content of 4%, omega-3 levels would be expected to be in the region of 36mg and 51mg per 100g of lean pig meat from intensive and extensive systems, respectively.^{vi.} The proportion of omega-3 in pig meat that is made up of long-chain omega-3 varies widely but is commonly between 30% and 60% (Fig. 9). The generally lower amounts of omega-3 and higher omega-6 to omega-3 ratio mean that the potential contribution of pig meat to meeting human nutritional requirements for long-chain omega-3 is likely to be relatively minor compared with lamb and beef. This is supported by data from Australia indicating that pork contributes around 4% of long-chain omega-3

intake (Howe *et al*, 2006). Nonetheless, the composition of free-range and organic pig meat can be considered more favourable than that of intensively-produced pig meat in this respect.

Levels of vitamin E are generally between 23% and 204% higher in pig meat from extensive systems compared with intensive systems (except for two comparisons that show no significant difference) (Fig. 10). A 100g serving of free-range or organic pig meat provides between 0.2mg and 0.6mg of vitamin E, which is equivalent to between 1.7% and 5% of the RDA (see Section 3.2). A 100g serving of intensively-reared pig meat provides between 0.1mg and 0.3mg of vitamin E, which is equivalent to between 0.8% and 2.5% of the RDA.

Figure 10. Vitamin E content and percentage difference between pig meat from intensive and free-range/organic systems.



n.s. = difference not statistically significant.

Hoffman *et al* (2003) report iron levels 213% higher in free-range pig meat compared with intensivelyproduced pig meat: 0.5mg and 0.16mg per 100g of lean meat respectively. This is equivalent to 3.6% of the RDA for a 100g serving of free-range pig meat compared with 1.1% of the RDA for a 100g serving of intensively-reared pig meat (see Section 3.3).

^{vi.} Based on a conversion factor of 0.910 to give total fatty acids in fat in lean pork (from MAFF, 1998).

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR PIG MEAT

- There are no consistent differences in total intramuscular fat content between pig meat from freerange/organic systems and intensive systems;
- Pig meat from free-range and organic systems has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids compared with pig meat from intensive systems, although the amounts would be expected to make only a relatively minor contribution to dietary intake of omega-3 and the omega-6 to omega-3 ratio is relatively high in all systems;
- Free-range pig meat contains more vitamin E than intensively-reared pig meat, with up to 5% of the adult RDA in a 100g serving;
- Free-range pig meat contains more iron than intensively-reared pig meat, with up to 3.5% of the adult RDA in a 100g serving.

4.5 Chicken meat

Total intramuscular fat content is generally between 8% and 49% lower for chicken meat from free-range and organic systems compared with indoor systems (two studies found no significant difference) (Fig. 11). Fat content of chicken meat is also lower for slower-growing genotypes compared with conventional fastgrowing genotypes (Fig. 12). Medium-growing strains generally contain between 12% and 31% less fat than fast-growing strains (one study showed no significant difference). Slow-growing strains generally contain between 17% and 67% less fat than fast-growing strains.

Figure 11. Intramuscular fat content and percentage difference between chicken meat from various indoor and outdoor production systems.

n.s. = difference not statistically significant. Chicken genotype indicated in parentheses as follows: F = fast-growing; M = medium-growing; S = slow-growing.



Figure 12. Intramuscular fat content and percentage difference between meat from fast-, medium- and slow-growing chicken genotypes.

n.s. = difference not statistically significant. Production system indicated in parentheses as follows: I = indoor; CI = conventional indoor; EI = extensive indoor; FR = free-range; O = organic.



The proportion of omega-3 fatty acids tends to be higher in chicken meat from free-range systems compared with indoor systems but the differences are not consistent across all studies. Several studies report a greater proportion of omega-3 fatty acids in free-range systems but others report no significant difference and one study found a lower proportion (Fig. 13). Castellini *et al* (2002) found significant differences between chicken meat from organic and indoor systems. On average, the proportion of omega-3 was 24% higher in the breast meat of organic birds (5.3% vs 4.3%) and 48% higher in the drumstick of organic birds (4.8% vs 3.2%) compared with intensively-reared birds.^{vii.}

The proportion of omega-3 fatty acids also tends to be higher in medium-growing strains compared with fast-growing strains but again the differences are not consistent across all studies. Several studies report a greater proportion of omega-3 fatty acids in medium-growing strains but others report no significant difference and one study found a lower proportion (Fig. 14). Castellini *et al* (2002) found no significant difference in the proportion of omega-3 between a fast-growing strain, a medium-growing strain and a slow-growing dualpurpose strain.^{vii.} However, the differences appear to be much greater for very slow-growing layer-type strains. Sirri et al (2011) found that a layer strain contained double the proportion of omega-3 in the breast meat and 48% more in the thigh meat compared with a fast-growing strain (Fig. 14). Despite having 23% less fat, the breast meat of the layer strain contains over twice as much longchain omega-3 as that of the fast-growing strain. The breast meat of the layer-type bird has 75mg omega-3 per 100g, of which 67mg is long-chain omega-3 (including 23mg of DHA). This compares with 49mg/100g, including 31mg long-chain (with 8mg DHA), for the fast-growing strain.^{viii.} Meat chickens have been selected for both faster growth rate and higher meat yield, particularly breast meat yield. These findings suggest that breeding meat chickens for one or both of these traits (even to a moderate extent as in dualpurpose birds) may have had a serious detrimental impact on the nutritional quality of the meat. This is likely to be, at least in part, a result of the relative inactivity of the birds selected for meat traits compared with layer-type birds.

^{vii.} Data not presented in Fig. 13 because figures for shorter-chain omega-3 were not reported.

viii. Based on a conversion factor of 0.945 to give total fatty acids in fat in poultry (from MAFF, 1998).

Figure 13. Omega-3 content and percentage difference between chicken meat from various

indoor and outdoor production systems. The lower (darker shaded) section of each bar represents longchain (\geq 20 carbons) omega-3. The upper (lighter shaded) section of each bar represents 18-carbon omega-3. n.s. = difference not statistically significant. Chicken genotype indicated in parentheses as follows: F = fastgrowing; M = medium-growing.



Figure 14. Omega-3 content and percentage difference between meat from fast-, medium- and slow-growing chicken genotypes. The lower (darker shaded) section of each bar represents long-chain (≥20 carbons) omega-3. The upper (lighter shaded) section of each bar represents 18-carbon omega-3. n.s. = difference not statistically significant. Production system indicated in parentheses as follows: I = indoor; CI = conventional indoor; EI = extensive indoor; FR = free-range; O = organic.



Based on the findings of Sirri *et al* (2011) mentioned in the previous paragraph, in order to obtain the same amount of long-chain omega-3 as would be found in a 100g serving of breast meat from a very slow-growing layer strain, a person would have to consume more than twice the quantity of breast meat from a fast-growing strain, which would involve consuming 2.7 times the quantity of fat (Table 2). Similarly, a person would have to consume around 38% more thigh meat of a fast-growing strain, which would involve consuming 2.2 times the quantity of fat (Table 2).

Table 2: Comparison of intramuscular fat and omega-3 levels in chicken meat from slow-growing and fast-growing strains reared organically. Based on Sirri *et al* (2011). For both meat types, total intramuscular fat content was significantly higher for the fast-growing genotype (P<0.05) and the proportion of omega-3 was significantly higher for the slower-growing genotype (P<0.01).

MEAT TYPE	BRE	AST	TH	GH
Chicken genotype (and rearing system)	Slow- growing layer-type (organic)	Fast- growing meat-type (organic)	Slow- growing layer-type (organic)	Fast- growing meat-type (organic)
Intramuscular fat (g/100g lean meat)	0.98	1.27	2.27	3.65
Long-chain omega-3 (mg/100g lean meat)	67	31	51	37
Product consumed to obtain the same amount of long-chain omega-3 as in 100g of product from slow-growing bird (g)		216		138
Fat consumed to obtain the same amount of long-chain omega-3 as in 100g of product from slow-growing bird (g)		2.74		5.04

Hundreds of millions of male layer chicks are killed at hatching in the EU every year because it is considered uneconomic to rear them for meat. Creating a premium market for these birds based on the nutritional qualities of the meat could potentially make it more economic to rear these birds, which would be highly desirable from an ethical point of view.

The quantities of long-chain omega-3 found in chicken meat are significant in terms of human nutritional requirements (see Section 3.2). Data from Australia indicate that consumption of chicken contributes an estimated 10% of total dietary intake of long-chain omega-3 (Howe *et al*, 2006). The findings presented here indicate that chicken meat from slower-growing strains, particularly very slow-growing layer strains, and from free-range and organic systems is generally more favourable in this respect.

The ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 is generally similar between chicken meat from free-range and indoor systems, ranging from 3.6 to 14.7 in freerange systems and from 3.0 to 15.0 in intensive systems (Ponte *et al*, 2008; Kralik *et al*, 2005; Polak *et al*, 2002; Zlender *et al*, 2000). The ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 is also generally similar between chicken meat from fast- and mediumgrowing strains, ranging from 5.8 to 14.8 in medium-growing strains and from 6.8 to 14.8 in fast-growing strains (Sirri *et al*, 2011; Ponte *et al*, 2008; Polak *et al*, 2002; Zlender *et al*, 2000). The ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 is significantly lower (4.3) in the beast meat of very slow-growing layertype birds, reflecting the high levels of omega-3, particularly long-chain omega-3, in this meat (Sirri *et al*, 2011).

Ponte *et al* (2008) report no significant difference in vitamin E content between chicken meat from free-range and intensive systems. Castellini *et al* (2002a) report higher levels of vitamin E in the meat of slower-growing strains compared with a fast-growing strain, although the differences are not large (6.4% higher for a medium-growing meat strain and 10.5% higher for a slow-growing dual-purpose strain).

Iron content is higher for chickens reared in an organic system compared with an indoor system and for slower-growing strains compared with fast-growing strains (Fig. 15). The iron content of the organically-reared birds is between 19% and 26% higher (for breast and drumstick respectively) compared with birds reared indoors. Iron content is between 55% and 58% higher for the breast meat of slower-growing strains (a dual-purpose slow-growing strain and a medium-growing strain, respectively) (Fig. 15). No data were available for a very slow-growing layer-type strain or for the drumstick meat of different strains.

A 100g serving of breast meat from a slowergrowing bird reared organically provides around

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR CHICKEN MEAT

0.65mg of iron, which is equivalent to 4.6% of the RDA (see Section 3.3). This compares with around 0.35mg of iron in a 100g serving of breast meat from a fast-growing strain reared indoors, which is equivalent to 2.5% of the RDA. For the drumstick, a 100g serving from a fast-growing strain reared organically provides almost 0.8mg, which is 5.7% of the RDA, compared with around 0.6mg for an indoor-reared bird, which is 4.3% of the RDA.

- Free-range and organic chicken meat contains less intramuscular fat than intensively-reared chicken meat;
- Chicken meat from slower-growing strains contains less fat than that from fast-growing strains;
- Free-range and organic chicken meat generally has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids compared with intensively-reared chicken meat, with a similar ratio of omega-6 to omega-3;
- Chicken meat from medium-growing strains generally has a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids compared with fast-growing strains, with a similar ratio of omega-6 to omega-3;
- The meat of very slow-growing layer strains has a significantly higher proportion of omega-3 compared with fast- and medium-growing strains, and the breast meat of these birds has a lower ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 and is particularly rich in long-chain omega-3, including DHA;
- Levels of vitamin E are similar between chicken meat from free-range and intensive systems and are higher in the meat of slower-growing strains compared with fast-growing strains, although the differences are relatively small;
- Chicken meat from slower-growing strains and from birds reared organically contains more iron than meat from fast-growing strains and birds reared intensively, with higher welfare options providing around 5-6% of the adult RDA in a 100g serving.

Figure 15. Iron content and percentage difference between chicken meat from indoor and organic systems and from fast-, medium- and slow-growing genotypes at various slaughter ages. n.s. = difference not statistically significant.



4.6 Eggs

Two studies have found higher levels of fat in free-range eggs (Anderson, 2011; Pignoli *et al*, 2009). However, most studies have found no significant difference in total fat content between free-range and battery eggs (Karsten *et al*, 2010; Hidalgo *et al*, 2008; Posadas Hernandez *et al*, 2005; Trziszka *et al*, 2004).

Most studies indicate the proportion of omega-3 is higher in free-range eggs compared with cage eggs, ranging from 26% to 170% more in free-range eggs (one study found no significant difference and one study found a 10% reduction in free-range eggs) (Fig. 16).

Two of the studies in Fig. 16 provide the necessary data to be able to calculate the actual amount of omega-3 in fresh egg yolk.^{ix} In the Karsten *et al* (2010) study, the amounts are equivalent to 8.6mg/g yolk in free-range eggs, of which 4.7mg is long-chain omega-3, compared with 3.2mg/g yolk in cage eggs, of which 2.2mg is long-chain omega-3. In the Posadas-Hernandez *et al* (2005) study, the amounts are equivalent to 1.22mg/g yolk in free-range eggs, of which 0.78mg is long-chain omega-3, compared with 1.16mg/g yolk in cage eggs, of which 0.75mg is long-chain omega-3.

In some cases, levels of omega-3 may be much higher in free-range eggs. For example, Simopoulos & Salem (1991)[×] report levels of omega-3 in the yolk of Greek free-range eggs of 17.7mg/g, of which 10.6mg is long-chain omega-3 (including 6.6mg of DHA). This is equivalent to 265mg of long-chain omega-3 (including 165mg of DHA) in a single egg, making it an excellent terrestrial source of long-chain omega-3, including DHA. These hens fed on pasture that included a plant that is particularly rich in omega-3 (purslane). By comparison, the same study found the yolk of cage eggs purchased in the US contained 1.7mg/g omega-3, including 1.2mg long-chain omega-3, equivalent to 30mg long-chain omega-3 in a single egg.

Most studies indicate that free-range eggs have a lower ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids compared with battery eggs (Karsten *et al*, 2010; Trziszka *et al*, 2004; Lopez-Bote *et al*, 1998; Simopoulos & Salem, 1991). Two studies found no significant difference (Pignoli et al, 2009; Hidalgo et al, 2008). The omega-6 to omega-3 ratio is between 1.3 and 14.1 for free-range and organic eggs and between 11.2 and 19.9 for battery cage eggs.

Figure 16. Omega-3 content and percentage difference between eggs from battery cages and free-range/organic systems. The lower (darker shaded) section of each bar represents long-chain (≥20 carbons) omega-3. The upper (lighter shaded) section of each bar represents 18-carbon omega-3. n.s. = difference not statistically significant.



^{ix.} Based on a conversion factor of 0.830 to give total fatty acids in fat in eggs (from MAFF, 1998).

* Data not presented in Fig. 16 because figures for omega-3 were reported in mg/g egg yolk rather than as a proportion of fatty acids and total fat contentment of the eggs was not reported to allow conversion.

A number of studies have found higher levels of vitamin E in free-range eggs compared with cage eggs. Karsten *et al* (2010) found twice the amount of vitamin E in free-range eggs, whilst Lopez-Bote *et al* (1998) found 31% more vitamin E in free-range eggs. However, others have found no significant difference (Anderson, 2011; Pignoli *et al*, 2009). The quantities of vitamin E in egg are significant in terms of human nutritional requirements (see Section 3.2). Lopez-Bote *et al* (1998) report that egg yolk contains 8.6mg and 6.6mg per 100g for free-range and cage eggs respectively. Assuming the contents of an

average egg weigh around 50g and that 35% of this is yolk (Ahn *et al*, 1997) this is equivalent to 3mg per 100g (2 eggs) serving of free-range eggs and 2.3mg per 100g (2 eggs) serving of cage eggs. This is equivalent to 25% and 19% of the RDA, respectively. Anderson *et al* (2011) report that free-range eggs contain 281% more beta-carotene than cage eggs. Also, Pignoli *et al* (2009) report that free-range eggs contain 12% more lutein than cage eggs.

No data were available to compare levels of iron between free-range/organic eggs and battery cage eggs.

Summary of findings for eggs:

- There are no consistent differences in total fat content between eggs from free-range or organic systems and eggs from battery cages;
- Free-range and organic eggs generally have a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 compared with battery cage eggs;
- Some free-range eggs are a particularly rich source of long-chain omega-3, including DHA;
- Free-range eggs often contain more antioxidants (vitamin E, beta-carotene and lutein) compared with battery cage eggs and are a rich source of vitamin E.

Salmon and trout

The total fat content is generally between 38% and 60% lower in wild-caught salmon compared with farmed salmon (two studies found no significant difference) (Fig. 17). The total fat content is generally between 23% and 82% lower in wild-caught trout compared with farmed trout (two studies found no significant difference) (Fig. 18).

Figure 17. Total fat content and percentage difference between farmed and wild salmon. n.s. = difference not statistically significant.



Figure 18. Total fat content and percentage difference between farmed and wild trout. n.s. = difference not statistically significant.



Both wild and farmed salmon are rich in longchain omega-3 fatty acids and there are no consistent differences in the proportion of omega-3 fatty acids between wild and farmed salmon. One study reports higher levels in farmed salmon (Blanchet *et al*, 2005), whilst one study reports higher levels in wild salmon (Cronin *et al*, 1991), and another reports no significant difference (although the proportion of DHA was significantly higher in the wild salmon in this study) (van Vliet and Katan, 1990). Long-chain omega-3 fatty acids make up between 16% and 28% of total fatty acids in farmed salmon (Blanchet *et al*, 2005; Cronin *et al*, 1991; van Vilet and Katan, 1990).

Both wild and farmed trout are also rich in longchain omega-3 fatty acids. However, the proportion of omega-3 fatty acids is between 43% and 66% higher in wild trout (Fig. 19).

The proportions of long-chain omega-3 in salmon and trout are equivalent to between 300mg and 3000mg in a 100g serving of fish.^{xii} Generally, between half and three-quarters of the long-chain omega-3 in salmon and trout is DHA, making it an excellent source both of long-chain omega-3 in general and DHA specifically. The ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 is relatively low (<1) for both wild and farmed salmon and trout. However, this ratio is significantly lower for wild salmon and trout compared with their farmed counterparts. The ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 is between 47% and 84% lower for wild salmon compared with farmed salmon (Fig. 20). Similarly, the omega-6 to omega-3 ratio is generally between 55% and 72% lower for wild trout compared with farmed trout (in one study the difference is not statistically significant) (Fig. 21). Given that the ratio between these groups of fatty acids is likely to be important, in addition to the actual amount of omega-3, and that modern Western diets are often relatively deficient in omega-3 with a relative excess of omega-6 (see Section 2.1), wild salmon and trout would be considered more favourable in contributing to achieving a more balanced ratio of these fatty acids in the diet than their farmed counterparts.

Fallah *et al* (2011) report that wild trout contains twice the quantity of iron compared with farmed trout: 0.7mg vs 0.3mg per 100g serving. This is equivalent to 5% and 2.4% of the RDA respectively.

No data were available to compare levels of antioxidants between wild and farmed fish.

xⁱⁱ Based on a conversion factor of 0.900 to give total fatty acids in fat in oily fish (from MAFF, 1998).

Figure 19. Omega-3 content and percentage difference between farmed and wild trout.



Figure 20. Ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids and percentage difference between farmed and wild salmon.



Figure 21. Ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids and percentage difference between farmed and wild trout. n.s. = difference not statistically significant.



Summary of findings for salmon & trout:

- Wild salmon and trout contain less fat than farmed salmon and trout;
- Both wild and farmed salmon and trout contain a high proportion of omega-3 fatty acids and can make a substantial contribution to meeting nutritional requirements for long-chain omega-3 fatty acids, including DHA;
- Wild trout contains a higher proportion of omega-3 fatty acids compared with farmed trout;
- All salmon and trout have a relatively low (generally <1) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 but this ratio is lower for wild salmon and trout compared with farmed salmon and trout, which could be beneficial in contributing to a more balanced ratio of these fatty acids in the diet;
- Wild trout contains more iron than farmed trout, with around 5% of the adult RDA in a 100g serving.

5. Summary of findings for each nutrient group

Total fat

Pasture-reared beef contains between 25% and nearly 50% less intramuscular fat compared with intensively-reared beef. Free-range and organic chicken often contains less intramuscular fat than intensively-reared chicken, in some cases as much as 50% less. Meat from slower-growing chicken breeds also contains less intramuscular fat than fast-growing breeds: Generally around 10-30% less for medium-growing strains and around 20-65% less for slow-growing strains. Wild salmon generally contains between 40% and 60% less fat than farmed salmon and wild trout generally contains between 25% and 80% less fat than farmed trout.

There were no consistent differences in total fat content between higher-welfare and lowerwelfare production systems for lamb, milk, pig meat or eggs.

Omega-3

For all of the terrestrial animal products, the proportion of omega-3 is generally greater and

the ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 is more favourable (lower) in the higher-welfare products. For fish, the proportion of omega-3 is greater for wild trout compared with farmed trout and is similar between wild and farmed salmon. For both salmon and trout, the ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 is lower for the wild fish compared with the farmed fish.

The amounts of shorter-chain omega-3 in the animal products examined are likely to make only a relatively minor contribution to human dietary intake, being generally below 100mg per 100g or 100ml of product (except that some free-range eggs may have higher levels but still below 200mg per 100g of whole egg). For comparison, 100g of walnuts provides 7470mg of shorter chain omega-3 (ALA) (FSA, 2002).

For long-chain omega-3, several of the animal products examined can make a substantial contribution to meeting human nutritional requirements, particularly salmon and trout (both wild and farmed), pasture-reared lamb and beef, higher-welfare chicken meat (especially from very slow-growing layer-type strains) and some freerange eggs. Levels of long-chain omega-3 can be from tens to hundreds of mg per 100g in the terrestrial products and from hundreds to thousands of mg per 100g in the fish.

In terms of DHA specifically, salmon and trout (both wild and farmed) contain substantial amounts of DHA, and some higher-welfare eggs, chicken and lamb also contain appreciable amounts.

Antioxidants

Comparative data for vitamin E content are available for beef, milk, pig meat, chicken meat and eggs. Vitamin E levels are between 35% and 160% higher for beef from pasture-based systems compared with intensive systems, between 25% and 60% higher for milk from pasture-based systems compared with conventional systems and generally between 25% and 200% higher for freerange pig meat compared with intensively-reared pig meat. For chicken, there is no significant difference in vitamin E content between chicken meat from free-range and intensive systems and the meat of slower-growing strains contains a little (up to around 10%) more than fast-growing strains. For eggs, some studies show between one third and twice as much vitamin E in free-range eggs compared with cage eggs. However, in some studies the difference is not significant.

The amount of vitamin E in a 100g serving of higher-welfare beef or pig meat is between 0.2mg and 0.6mg, which is equivalent to between 2% and 5% of the adult RDA, and would therefore be expected to make a modest contribution to human dietary intake. The amount of vitamin E in milk is lower (equivalent to around 0.5-1% of the adult RDA). The amount of vitamin E in free-range eggs is around 3mg per 100g (2 eggs) serving. This is equivalent to around 25% of the RDA and would therefore be expected to make a significant contribution to human dietary intake. For comparison, 100g of walnuts provides around 4mg of vitamin E and 100g of almonds provides around 24mg of vitamin E (*Ibid*.)

Comparative data for beta-carotene content are available for beef, milk and eggs. In most cases, levels of beta-carotene are several hundred percent higher in the higher-welfare products. However, the total amounts are relatively low in terms of human dietary intake, being generally below 150µg per 100g or 100ml of product, which is equivalent to less than 1.5% of the adult RDA for vitamin A. For comparison, 100g of raw carrots provides over 10 000µg of beta-carotene (*Ibid.*), which is sufficient to provide 100% of the RDA for vitamin A.

Iron

Comparative data for iron content are available for pig meat, chicken meat and trout. Iron levels are over three times higher in free-range pig meat compared with intensively-reared pig meat, over 50% higher for meat from slower-growing chicken strains compared with fast-growing strains, around 20-25% higher for organic chicken compared with intensively-reared chicken, and twice as high for wild trout compared with farmed trout.

The amount of iron in a 100g serving of the higher-welfare products is between 0.5mg and 0.8mg, equivalent to between 4% and 6% of the adult RDA, and would therefore be expected to make a moderate contribution to human dietary intake. For comparison, 100g of baked beans contains 1.4mg of iron (*Ibid.*). However, much of the iron in animal products (between 30% and 70%) is in the form of haem iron, which is more easily absorbed by the body (Strain and Cashman, 2009). The absorption of non-haem iron from plant sources is dependent to a large extent upon the presence of facilitating and inhibiting substances in the meal and on the iron status of the individual (*Ibid.*).

Table 3: Summary of nutritional differences between higher-welfare and lower-welfare animal products. The direction of arrows in the left hand column indicates whether a higher or lower value is generally considered beneficial. ↑ or ↓ indicate where higher-welfare products typically have a more favourable nutritional composition (higher or lower levels respectively) compared with intensively-produced products. ↔ indicates no consistent difference between higher-welfare and lower-welfare products. → indicates no comparative data available.

	Lamb	Beef	Milk	Pig meat	Chicken meat	Eggs	Salmon/ Trout
Total fat ↓	↔	Pasture- based 👃	↔	↔	Slower-growing & free-range/ organic	<mark>↔</mark>	Wild 🕽
Proportion of omega-3	Pasture- based 1	Pasture- based <mark>↑</mark>	Pasture- based <mark>↑</mark>	Free- range/ organic <mark>↑</mark>	Slower-growing & free-range/ organic	Free-range/ organic <mark>†</mark>	Trout - wild <mark>↑</mark> Salmon <mark>↔</mark>
Proportion of long- chain omega-3 ↑	Pasture- based <mark>1</mark>	Pasture- based <mark>1</mark>	Pasture- based <mark>1</mark>	Free- range/ organic <mark>1</mark>	Slower-growing & organic <mark>1</mark>	Free-range/ organic <mark>1</mark>	Wild <mark>↑</mark>
Omega-6/ Omega-3 ratio ↓	Pasture- based 🕽	Pasture- based 🕽	Pasture- based 🕽	Free- range/ organic <mark>J</mark>	Very slow- growing <mark>,</mark>	Free-range/ organic <mark>,</mark>	Wild <mark>J</mark>
Vitamin E ↑	-	Pasture- based <mark>↑</mark>	Pasture- based <mark>↑</mark>	Free-range	Slower-growing ↑	Free-range <mark>↑</mark>	ł
Carotenoids	-	Pasture- based <mark>↑</mark>	Pasture- based <mark>↑</mark>	-	-	Free-range <mark>↑</mark>	-
lron ↑	-	-	-	Free-range <mark>1</mark>	Slower-growing & organic <mark>↑</mark>		Trout - wild <mark>1</mark> Salmon -

6. Conclusions

Higher-welfare animal products were shown to have a number of nutritional benefits over intensively-reared animal products.

Excessive fat consumption can contribute to weight gain and associated health problems. Higher-welfare animal products are often significantly lower in fat than equivalent products from intensively-reared animals. This is true of pasture-reared beef, free-range and organic chicken and chicken of slower-growing breeds, and wild salmon and trout.

Choosing higher-welfare animal products over intensively-reared animal products would be expected to be beneficial in reducing dietary intake of fat, including saturated fat.

Modern western diets are often deficient in omega-3 fatty acids and have excessive amounts of omega-6 fatty acids relative to the amount of omega-3. An adequate intake of long-chain (≥20 carbon atoms) omega-3 fatty acids is particularly important for brain and heart health. Compared with intensively-farmed animal products, higherwelfare animal products typically have higher levels of omega-3 fatty acids and a more favourable (lower) ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids. Wild salmon and trout, pasture-reared lamb and beef, chicken meat from slow-growing layer-type strains and some free-range eggs are particularly beneficial in this respect. Choosing higher-welfare animal products over intensively-reared animal products would be expected to make a substantial contribution to meeting dietary requirements for long-chain omega-3 fatty acids and achieving a more balanced intake of omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids.

Higher-welfare animal products often contain higher levels of antioxidants, such as vitamin E and beta-carotene, and higher levels of iron, compared with intensively-produced animal products.

Choosing higher-welfare animal products over intensively-reared animal products would be expected to make a moderate contribution to meeting dietary requirements for vitamin E and iron.

Limitations and further research

Issues with the data

Direct comparison of data between studies cannot necessarily be made because of the widely varying approaches taken in the preparation of samples and methodology of the nutrient analyses. Therefore, whilst comparisons within a study are valid, differences between one system or breed in one study and a different system or breed in another study may not be. In some cases, studies were excluded from the analysis because the data were collected or presented in such a way that it was not possible to find a common approach.

Within studies, comparison of data from different systems is often challenging because animals may mature at different rates. For example, cattle finished at pasture generally take significantly longer to reach slaughter weight than those finished intensively. Similarly, chickens of slowergrowing breeds will generally be significantly older at slaughter than their fast-growing counterparts. Some studies compared animals slaughtered at the same age, whilst others compared animals slaughtered at a similar weight. In many cases therefore, it is difficult to determine whether differences in nutritional content are a result of the system per se or a result of the differing ages and/or weights of the animals being compared. Some studies compared both combinations of same age/different weight and same weight/different age. In these cases, the data most representative of commercial practice (i.e. usually the same weight) were used.

Issues with the production systems

The actual level of welfare attained in any production system is dependent not only on the welfare potential of the production system but also on the level of management skill applied to it. Since the studies used in this analysis did not measure welfare directly in the systems compared, the welfare potential of the systems is used as a proxy for the level of welfare experienced by the animals.

In some studies, the production systems are not clearly defined, which may partially mask nutritional differences between systems. For example, several of the studies for milk compared conventional retail or bulk milk with organic milk. Conventional milk may include milk from a range of systems, including those using grazing to varying extents. The presence of milk from pasture-based systems in the samples of conventional milk could potentially reduce nutritional differences between these and the organic milk samples. Similarly, for studies comparing chicken from slower-growing breeds with conventional fastgrowing breeds, the actual and potential growth rate of the slower-growing strains is not always clearly defined. A breed that may be considered slow-growing in one study may be considered to be a medium-growing strain in another study that includes a strain with an even slower growth rate. To avoid any confusion, all slower-growing broiler (meat) strains were classified as medium-growing strains for the purposes of this study in order to distinguish them from the significantly slowergrowing dual-purpose and layer strains. This means that there is actually guite a wide variation in growth rate for the birds classified as mediumgrowing.

Issues with the nutrients covered by the analysis

There may be many other nutrients that differ between higher- and lower-welfare animal products but the scope of the analysis was limited by the availability of data in the scientific literature. For those that were included, in some cases the findings for certain nutrients and products are based on very limited data. For example, the findings of Sirri et al (2011) in relation to the omega-3 content of chicken meat from a slow-growing layer strain (compared with fast-growing and medium-growing broiler strains) are intriguing and suggest that rearing the males of layer strains for meat may produce meat with significant nutritional advantages. However, this is only one study and further research is needed to confirm these findings.

Other nutrients were excluded from the analysis because of a lack of conclusive evidence of their health effects. For example, conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) is a collective term for a group of positional and geometric isomers of linoleic acid. Naturally-occurring CLA is found primarily in the milk and meat of ruminants and is mostly of the cis-9, trans-11 configuration. CLA has been shown to have a beneficial effect on cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, body composition, the immune system and bone health Schmid et al, 2006). However, data mainly derive from animal trials and the findings from human trials have so far been inconclusive (Ibid.). Many studies have already been conducted investigating the levels of CLA in animal products from different production systems and it appears that levels are generally significantly higher in animals kept at pasture. If the health benefits of CLA are confirmed in humans, an analysis of the findings of these studies would be warranted.

GLOSSARY

Nutrient	Acronym	Description	Recommended intake
Alpha-linolenic acid	ALA	Shorter-chain omega-3 fatty acid (18 carbon atoms; 3 double bonds) – the parent of the omega-3 family of fatty acids that is essential in the diet because it cannot be made in the body	EFSA NDA Panel ^{xii} recommends an adequate intake equivalent to 0.5% of total energy (EFSA, 2010)
Alpha-tocopherol		The most biologically active form of vitamin E	RDA ^{xiii} (EU) for vitamin E = 12mg/day
Antioxidants		Naturally occurring compounds that can neutralise free radicals (highly reactive molecules that damage body cells)	No RDA set
Arachidonic Acid	AA	Long-chain omega-6 fatty acid (20 carbon atoms; 4 double bonds)	No RDA set
Beta-carotene		Antioxidant and provitamin A carotenoid	No RDA set for beta-carotene. RDA (EU) for vitamin A = 800µg/day, which is equivalent to 9600µg beta-carotene
Carotenoids		Antioxidants, some of which can be converted into vitamin A in the body	No RDA set
Docosahexaenoic acid	DHA	Long-chain omega-3 fatty acid (22 carbon atoms; 6 double bonds)	Various sources recommend around 200-500mg per day of EPA and DHA combined (EFSA, 2010; Harris <i>et al</i> , 2009); EFSA NDA Panel recommends an additional 100-200mg/day of pre- formed DHA during pregnancy and lactation (EFSA, 2010)
Docosapentaenoic acid	DPA	Long-chain omega-3 fatty acid (22 carbon atoms; 5 double bonds)	No RDA set
Eicosapentaenoic acid	EPA	Long-chain omega-3 fatty acid (20 carbon atoms; 5 double bonds)	Various sources recommend around 200-500mg per day of EPA and DHA combined (EFSA, 2010; Harris <i>et al</i> , 2009)
Iron		Essential mineral	RDA (EU) = 14mg/day
Linoleic acid	LA	Shorter-chain omega-6 fatty acid (18 carbon atoms; 2 double bonds) – the parent of the omega-6 family of fatty acids that is essential in the diet because it cannot be made in the body	EFSA NDA Panel recommends an adequate intake equivalent to 4% of total energy (EFSA, 2010)
Lutein		Antioxidant	No RDA set
Monounsaturated fatty acids	MUFA	Fatty acids with one double bond	No RDA set for total MUFA but replacement of SFA in the diet with a mixture of PUFA and MUFA is considered beneficial (EFSA, 2010)
Omega-3 fatty acids		A family of polyunsaturated fatty acids where the first double bond occurs after the third carbon atom from the methyl end	See separate recommendations for ALA, EPA and DHA

 $^{^{\}rm xii}$ European Food Safety Authority Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies. $^{\rm xiii}$ Recommended Daily Allowance.

Omega-6 fatty acids		A family of polyunsaturated fatty acids where the first double bond occurs after the sixth carbon atom from the methyl end	See recommendation for LA
Polyunsaturated fatty acids	PUFA	Fatty acids with two or more double bonds	No RDA set for total PUFA but replacement of SFA in the diet with a mixture of PUFA and MUFA is considered beneficial (EFSA, 2010) – see separate recommendations for LA, ALA, EPA and DHA
Provitamin A carotenoids		Carotenoids that can be converted into vitamin A in the body	RDA (EU) for vitamin A = 800µg/day
Saturated fatty acids	SFA	Fatty acids with no double bonds (i.e. where all the carbon atoms are bonded to their full complement of hydrogen atoms)	EFSA NDA Panel recommends less than 10% of energy intake (or as little as possible within the context of a nutritionally adequate diet) should come from SFA (EFSA, 2010)
Unsaturated fatty acids	UFA	Fatty acids with one or more double bonds – includes monounsaturated fatty acids and polyunsaturated fatty acids	No RDA set for total UFA but replacement of SFA in the diet with a mixture of PUFA and MUFA is considered beneficial (EFSA, 2010) – see separate recommendations for LA, ALA, EPA and DHA
Vitamin E		Essential vitamin which acts as an antioxidant	RDA (EU) = 12mg/day

REFERENCES

Aguiar, A. P. S.; Contreras-Castillo, C. J.; Baggio, S. R.; Vicente, E. (2008) Meat quality of broilers from different rearing systems. *Italian Journal of Food Science*, 20: 213-223.

Ahn, D. U.; Kim, S. M.; Shu, H. (1997) Effect of egg size and strain and age of hens on the solids content of chicken eggs. *Poultry Science*, 76: 914-919.

Alfaia, C. P. M.; Alves, S. P.; Martins, S. I. V.; Costa, A. S. H.; Fontes, C. M. G. A.; Lemos, J. P. C.; Bessa, R. J. B.; Prates, J. A. M. (2009) Effect of the feeding system on intramuscular fatty acids and conjugated linoleic acid isomers of beef cattle, with emphasis on their nutritional value and discriminatory ability. *Food Chemistry*, 114: 939-946.

Andersen, K. E. (2011) Comparison of fatty acid, cholesterol, and vitamin A and E composition in eggs from hens housed in conventional cage and range production facilities. *Poultry Science*, 90: 1600-1608.

Araba, A.; Bouarour, M.; Bas, P.; Morand-Fehr, P.; El Aich, A.; Kabbali, A. (2009) Performance, carcass characteristics and meat quality of Timahdite-breed lambs finished on pasture or on hay and concentrate. *Options Méditerranéennes* A, 85: 465-469.

Barker, Z. E.; Leach, K. A.; Whay, H. R.; Bell, N. J.; Main, D. C. (2010) Assessment of lameness prevalence and associated risk factors in dairy herds in England and Wales. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 93: 932-941.

Bee, G.; Guex, G.; Herzog, W. (2004) Free-range rearing of pigs during the winter: Adaptations in muscle fiber characteristics and effects on adipose tissue composition and meat quality traits. *Journal of Animal Science*, 82: 1206-1218.

Bender, D. A. (2009) The vitamins. In *Introduction to Human Nutrition*, second edition, pp. 132-187. Gibney, M.J.; Lanham-New, S.A.; Cassidy, A,; Vorster, H.H. (eds.). The Nutrition Society Textbook Series. Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester, UK.

Bergamo, P.; Fedele, E.; Iannibelli, L.; Marzillo, G. (2003) Fat-soluble vitamin contents and fatty acid composition in organic and conventional dairy products. *Food Chemistry*, 82: 625-631.

Bilik, K.; Lopuszanska-Rusek, M. (2010) Effect of organic and conventional feeding of red-and-white cows on productivity and milk composition. *Annals of Animal Science*, 10: 441-458.

Blanchet, C.; Lucas, M.; Julien, P.; Morin, R.; Gingras, S.; Dewailly, E. (2005) Fatty acid composition of wild and farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Lipids*, 40: 529-531.

Bogosavljevic-Boskovic, S.; Mitrovic, S.; Djokovic, R.; Doskovic, V.; Djermanovic, V. (2010) Chemical composition of chicken meat produced in extensive indoor and free range rearing systems. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 9: 9069-9075.

Broom, D. M.; Fraser, A. F. (2007) *Domestic Animal Behaviour and Welfare*, fourth edition. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

Butko, D.; Sencic, D.; Antunovic, Z.; Speranda, M.; Steiner, Z. (2007) Pork carcass composition and the meat quality of the Black Slavonian pig – the endangered breeds in the indoor and outdoor keeping system. *Agriculture Scientific and Technical Review*, 13: 167-171.

Butler, G.; Stergiadis, S.; Seal, C.; Eyre, M.; Leifert, C. (2011) Fat composition of organic and conventional retail milk in northwest England. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 94: 24-36.

Caparra, P.; Foti, F.; Scerra, M.; Cilione, C.; Vottari, G.; Galofaro, V.; Sinatra, M. C.; Scerra, V. (2007) Influence of feeding system on fatty acid composition of suckling lambs. *Options Méditerranéennes* A, 74: 95-99.

Carrapiso, A. I.; Jurado, A.; Martin, L.; Garcia, C. (2007) The duration of the outdoor rearing period of pig influences Iberian ham characteristics. *Irish Journal of Agricultural and Food Research*, 46: 105-115.

Castellini, C.; Mugnai, C.; Dal Bosco, A. (2002) Effect of organic production system on broiler carcass and meat quality. *Meat Science*, 60: 219-225.

Castellini, C.; Mugnai, C.; Dal Bosco, A. (2002a) Meat quality of three chicken genotypes reared according to the organic system. *Italian Journal of food Science*, 14: 401-411.

Compassion in World Farming (2007) Alternatives to the barren battery cage for the housing of laying hens in the European Union. Compassion in World Farming, Godalming, UK.

<u>http://www.ciwf.org.uk/includes/documents/cm_docs/2008/a/alternatives_to_the_barren_battery_cage_in_the</u> <u>_eu.pdf</u> (accessed 12/09/11).

Cordain, L.; Eaton, S. B.; Sebastian, A.; Mann, N.; Lindeberg, S.; Watkins, B. A.; O'Keefe, J. H.; Brand-Miller, J. (2005) Origins and evolution of the Western diet: Health implications for the 21st century. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81: 341-354.

Council Directive 90/496/EEC of 24 September 1990 on nutrition labelling of foodstuffs (as amended). *Official Journal* L 276, 06/10/90, p40. <u>http://eur-</u>

lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CONSLEG:1990L0496:20040109:EN:PDF (accessed 12/09/11).

Couvreur, S.; Hurtaud, C.; Lopez, C.; Delaby, L.; Peyraud, J. L. (2006) The linear relationship between the proportion of fresh grass in the cow diet, milk fatty acid composition, and butter properties. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 89: 1956-1969.

Cronin, D. A.; Powell, R.; Gormley, R. (1991) An examination of the n-3 and n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acid status of wild and farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Irish Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 15: 53-62.

Danbury, T. C.; Weeks, C. A.; Chambers, J. P.; Waterman-Pearson, A. E.; Kestin, S. C. (2000) Self-selection of the analgesic drug carprofen by lame broiler chickens. *Veterinary Record*, 146: 307-311.

Daza, A.; Rey, A. I.; Ruiz, J.; Lopez-Bote, C. J. (2005) Effects of feeding in free-range conditions or in confinement with different dietary MUFA/PUFA ratios and α-tocopheryl acetate, on antioxidants accumulation and oxidative stability in Iberian pigs. *Meat Science*, 69: 151-163.

Descalzo, A. M.; Insani, E. M.; Biolatto, A.; Sancho, A. M.; Garcia, P. T.; Pensel, N. A.; Josifovich, J. A. (2005) Influence of pasture or grain-based diets supplemented with vitamin E on antioxidant/oxidative balance of Argentine beef. *Meat Science*, 70: 35-44.

Diaz, M. T.; Alvarez, I.; Fuente, J. de la; Sanudo, C.; Campo, M. M.; Oliver, M. A.; Font i Furnols, M.; Montossi, F.; San Julian, R.; Nute, G. R.; Caneque, V. (2005) Fatty acid composition of meat from typical lamb production systems of Spain, United Kingdom, Germany and Uruguay. *Meat Science*, 71: 256-263.

EFSA (2007) Scientific report on animal health and welfare in fattening pigs in relation to housing and husbandry. European Food Safety Authority Panel on Animal Health and Welfare. Annex to the *EFSA Journal*, 564: 1-14. <u>http://www.efsa.europa.eu/fr/scdocs/doc/564.pdf</u> (accessed 12/09/11).

EFSA (2009) Scientific report of EFSA prepared by the Animal Health and Animal Welfare Panel on the effects of farming systems on dairy cow welfare and disease. European Food Safety Authority. *Annex to the EFSA Journal*, 1143: 1-7. <u>http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/doc/1143r.pdf</u> (accessed 12/09/11).

EFSA (2010) Scientific opinion on dietary reference values for fats, including saturated fatty acids, polyunsaturated fatty acids, monounsaturated fatty acids, *trans* fatty acids, and cholesterol. EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies. *EFSA Journal*, 8(3): 1461. http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/doc/1461.pdf (accessed 12/09/11).

Ellis, K. A.; Innocent, G.; Grove-White, D.; Cripps, P.; McLean, W. G.; Howard, C. V.; Mihm, M. (2006) Comparing the fatty acid composition of organic and conventional milk. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 89: 1938-1950.

Eurobarometer (2007) Attitudes of EU citizens towards animal welfare. Special Eurobarometer 227. European Commission. <u>http://ec.europa.eu/public_opinion/archives/ebs/ebs_270_en.pdf</u> (accessed 12/09/11).

Fallah, A. A.; Saei-Dehkordi, S. S.; Nematollahi, A. (2011) Comparative assessment of proximate composition, physicochemical parameters, fatty acid profile and mineral content in farmed and wild rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). International Journal of Food Science and Technology, 46: 767-773.

FSA (2002) *McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods*, sixth summary edition. Food Standards Agency. Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, UK.

Garcia, P. T.; Pensel, N. A.; Sancho, A. M.; Latimori, N. J.; Kloster, A. M.; Amigone, M. A.; Casal, J. J. (2008) Beef lipids in relation to animal breed and nutrition in Argentina. *Meat Science*, 79: 500-508.

Gonzalez, E.; Tejeda, J. F. (2007) Effects of dietary incorporation of different antioxidant extracts and freerange rearing on fatty acid composition and lipid oxidation of Iberian pig meat. *Animal*, 1: 1060-1067. Hamilton, C. M.; Hites, R. A.; Schwager, S. J.; Foran, J. A.; Knuth, B. A.; Carpenter, D. O. (2005) Lipid composition and contaminants in farmed and wild salmon*Environmental Science and Technology*, 39: 8622-8629.

Hansen, L. L.; Claudi-Magnussen, C.; Jensen, S. K.; Andersen, H. J. (2006) Effect of pig production systems on performance and meat quality. *Meat Science*, 74: 605-615.

Harris, W. S.; Mozaffarian, D.; Lefevre, M.; Toner, C. D.; Colombo, J.; Cunnane, S. C.; Holden, J. M.; Klurfeld, D. M.; Morris, M. C.; Whelan, J. (2009) Towards establishing dietary reference intakes for eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acids. *Journal of Nutrition*, 139: 8045-8195.

Haskell, M. J.; Rennie, L. J.; Bowell, V. J.; Bell, M. J.; Lawrence, A. B. (2006) Housing system, milk production and zero-grazing effects on lameness and leg injury in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 89: 4259-4266.

Hastein, T. (2004) Animal welfare issues relating to aquaculture. *Proceedings of the Global Conference on Animal Welfare: An OIE Initiative*, Paris, 23-25 February 2004. http://www.oie.int/fileadmin/Home/eng/Conferences Events/docs/pdf/proceedings.pdf (accessed 15/12/11).

Hibbeln, J. R.; Nieminen, L. R. G.; Blasbalg, T. L.; Riggs, J. A.; Lands, W. E. M. (2006) Healthy intakes of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids: estimations considering worldwide diversity. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 83: 1483S-1493S.

Hidalgo, A.; Rossi, M.; Clerici, F.; Ratti, S. (2008) A market study on the quality characteristics of eggs from different housing systems. *Food Chemistry*, 106: 1031-1038.

Hoffman, L. C.; Styger, E.; Muller, M.; Brand, T. S. (2003) The growth and carcass and meat characteristics of pigs raised in a free-range or conventional housing system. *South African Journal of Animal Science*, 33: 166-175.

Howe, P.; Meyer, B.; Record, S.; Baghurst, K. (2006) Dietary intake of long-chain omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: contribution of meat sources. *Nutrition*, 22: 47-53.

Insani, E. M.; Eyherabide, A.; Grigioni, G.; Sancho, A. M.; Pensel, N. A.; Descalzo, A. M. (2008) Oxidative stability and its relationship with natural antioxidants during refrigerated retail display of beef produced in Argentina. *Meat Science*, 79: 444-452.

Julian, R.J. (2005) Production and growth related disorders and other metabolic diseases of poultry – a review. *The Veterinary Journal*, 169: 350-369.

Karsten, H. D.; Patterson, P. H.; Stout, R.; Crews, G. (2010) Vitamins A, E and fatty acid composition of eggs from caged hens and pastured hens. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*, 25: 45-54.

Kay, J. K.; Roche, J. R.; Kolver, E. S.; Thomson, N. A.; Baumgard, L. H. (2005) A comparison between feeding systems (pasture and TMR) and the effect of vitamin E supplementation on plasma and milk fatty acid profiles in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Research*, 72: 322-332.

Kaya, Y.; Erdem, M. E. (2009) Seasonal comparison of wild and farmed brown trout (*Salmo trutta forma fario* L., 1758): Crude lipid, gonadosomatic index and fatty acids. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 60: 413-423.

Kim, D. H.; Seong, P. N.; Cho, S. H.; Kim, J. H.; Lee, J. M.; Jo, C.; Lim, D. G. (2009) Fatty acid composition and meat quality traits of organically reared Korean native black pigs. *Livestock Science*, 120: 96-102.

Kitessa, S.; Liu ShiMin; Briegel, J.; Pethick, D.; Gardner, G.; Ferguson, M.; Allingham, P.; Nattrass, G.; McDonagh, M.; Ponnampalam, E.; Hopkins, D. (2010) Effects of intensive or pasture finishing in spring and linseed supplementation in autumn on the omega-3 content of lamb meat and its carcass distribution. *Animal Production Science*, 50: 130-137.

Knowles, T.G.; Kestin, S.C.; Haslam, S.M.; Brown, S.N.; Green, L.E.; Butterworth, A.; Pope, S.J.; Pfeiffer, D.; Nicol, C.J. (2008) Leg disorders in broiler chickens: prevalence, risk factors and prevention. *PLoS ONE 3 (2):* e1545. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001545.

Kralik, G.; Ivankovic, S.; Skrtic, Z. (2005) Fatty acids composition of poultry meat produced in indoor and outdoor rearing systems. *Poljoprivredo (Agriculture)*, 11: 38-42.

Latimori, N. J.; Kloster, A. M.; Garcia, P. T.; Carduza, F. J.; Grigioni, G.; Pensel, N. A.; Descalzo, A.; Sanchez, G. (2008) Diet and genotype effects on the quality index of beef produced in the Argentine Pampeana region. *Meat Science*, 79: 463-469.

Leiber, F.; Kreuzer, M.; Nigg, D.; Wettstein, H. R.; Scheeder, M. R. L. (2005) A study on the causes for the elevated n-3 fatty acids in cows' milk of alpine origin. *Lipids*, 40: 191-202.

Leheska, J. M.; Thompson, L. D.; Howe, J. C.; Hentges, E.; Boyce, J.; Brooks, J. C.; Shriver, B.; Hoover, L.; Miller, M. F. (2008) Effects of conventional and grass-feeding systems on the nutrient composition of beef. *Journal of Animal Science*, 86: 3575-3585.

Lichovnikova, M.; Jandasek, J.; Juzl, M.; Drackova, E. (2009) The meat quality of layer males from free range in comparison with fast growing chickens. *Czech Journal of Animal Science*, 54: 490-497.

López-Bote, C. J.; Arias, R. S.; Rey, A. I.; Castano, A.; Isabel, B.; Thos, J. (1998) Effect of free-range feeding on *n*-3 fatty acid and a-tocopherol content and oxidative stability of eggs. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 72: 33-40.

MAFF (1998) Fatty acids. Seventh Supplement to the Fifth Edition of McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods. Royal Society of Chemistry. Cambridge, UK and Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, London, UK.

McAfee, A. J.; McSorley, E. M.; Cuskelly, G. J.; Fearon, A. M.; Moss, B. W.; Beattie, J. A. M.; Wallace, J. M. W.; Bonham, M. P.; Strain, J. J. (2011) Red meat from animals offered a grass diet increases plasma and platelet n-3 PUFA in healthy consumers. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 105: 80-89.

Muskiet, F. A. J.; Fokkema, M. R.; Schaafsma, A.; Boersma, E. R.; Crawford, M. A. (2004) Is docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) essential? Lessons from DHA status regulation, our ancient diet, epidemiology and randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Nutrition*, 134: 183-186.

Nettleton, J. A.; Exler, J. (1992) Nutrients in wild and farmed fish and shellfish. *Journal of Food Science*, 57: 257-260.

Nilzen, V.; Babol, J.; Dutta, P. C.; Lundeheim, N.; Enfalt, A. C.; Lundström, K. (2001) Free range rearing of pigs with access to pasture grazing – effect on fatty acid composition and lipid oxidation products. *Meat Science*, 58: 267-275.

Nuernberg, K.; Nuernberg, G.; Ender, K.; Dannenberger, D.; Schabbel, W.; Grumbach, S.; Zupp, W.; Steinhart, H. (2005) Effect of grass vs. concentrate feeding on the fatty acid profile of different fat depots in lambs. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, 107: 737-745.

Nuernberg, K.; Fischer, A.; Nuernberg, G.; Ender, K.; Dannenberger, D. (2008) Meat quality and fatty acid composition of lipids in muscle and fatty tissue of Skudde lambs fed grass *versus* concentrate. *Small Ruminant Research*, 74: 279-283.

O'Donnell, A. M.; Spatny, K. P.; Vicini, J. L.; Bauman, D. E. (2010) Survey of the fatty acid composition of retail milk differing in label claims based on production management practices. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 93: 1918-1925.

Oksbjerg, N.; Strudsholm, K.; lindahl, G.; Hermansen, J. E. (2005) Meat quality of fully or partly outdoor reared pigs in organic production. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section A*, 55: 106-112.

Panea, B.; Carrasco, S.; Ripoll, G.; Joy, M. (2011) Diversification of feeding systems for light lambs: Sensory characteristics and chemical composition of meat. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research, 9: 74-85.*

Pignoli, G.; Rodriguez-Estrada, M. T.; Mandrioli, M.; Barbanti, L.; Rizzi, L.; Lercker, G. (2009) Effects of different rearing and feeding systems on lipid oxidation and antioxidant capacity of freeze-dried egg yolks. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57: 11517-11527.

Polak, T.; Holcman, A.; Stibilj, V.; Zlender, B. (2002) The fatty acid composition of broilers from free range rearing. *Zb. Biotech. Fak. Univ. Kmet. Zootch.*, 80: 71-80.

Ponnampalam, E. N.; Mann, N. J.; Sinclair, A. J. (2006) Effect of feeding systems on omega-3 fatty acids, conjugated linoleic acid and *trans* fatty acids in Australian beef cuts: potential impact on human health. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 15(1): 21-29.

Ponte, P. I. P.; Alves, S. P.; Bessa, R. J. B.; Ferreira, L. M. A.; Gama, L. T.; Bras, J. L. A.; Fontes, C. M. G. A.; Prates, J. A. M. (2008) Influence of pasture intake on the fatty acid composition, and cholesterol, tocopherols, and tocotrienols content in meat from free-range broilers. *Poultry Science*, 87: 80-88.

Poppe, T.; Barnes, A. C.; Midtlyng, P. J. (2002) Welfare and ethics in fish farming. *Bulletin of the European* Association of Fish Pathologists, 22: 148-152.

Posadas Hernandez, E; Sanchez Ramirez, E.; Avila Gonzalez, E.; Tellez Isaias, G.; Salmeron Sosa, F. (2005) Behaviour of certain productive characteristics, stress and resistance to Salmonella enteritidis in semi-heavy poultry under two production systems. *Veterinaria México*, 36: 205-215.

Realini, C. E.; Duckett, S. K.; Brito, G. W.; Rizza, M. dalla; Mattos, D. de (2004) Effect of pasture vs. concentrate feeding with or without antioxidants on carcass characteristics, fatty acid composition, and quality of Uruguayan beef. *Meat Science*, 66: 567-577.

Regulation (EC) No. 1924/2006 of 20 December 2006 on nutrition and health claims made on foods (as amended). *Official Journal* L 404, 30/12/06, p9. <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CONSLEG:2006R1924:20100302:EN:PDF</u> (accessed 12/09/11).

Rey, A. I.; Lopez-Bote, C. J. (2001) Effect of dietary copper and vitamin E supplementation, and extensive feeding with acorn and grass on longissimus muscle composition and susceptibility to oxidation in Iberian pigs. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, 85: 281-292.

Rey, A. I.; Daza, A.; Lopez-Carrasco, C.; Lopez-Bote, C. J. (2006) Feeding Iberian pigs with acorns and grass in either free-range or confinement affects the carcass characteristics and fatty acids and tocopherols accumulation in *Longissimus dorsi* muscle and backfat. *Meat Science*, 73: 66-74.

Santos-Silva, J.; Bessa, R. J. B.; Santos-Silva, F. (2002) The effect of genotype, feeding system and slaughter weight on the quality of light lambs. II. Fatty acid composition of meat. *Livestock Production Science*, 77: 187-194.

Sanudo, C.; Enser, M. E.; Campo, M. M.; Nute, G. R.; Maria, G.; Sierra, I.; Wood, J. D. (2000) Fatty acids composition and sensory characteristics of lamb carcasses from Britain and Spain. *Meat Science*, 54: 339-346.

Schmid, A.; Collomb, M.; Sieber, R.; Bee, G. (2006) Conjugated linoleic acid in meat and meat products: A review. *Meat Science*, 73: 29-41.

Schönfeldt, H. C; Holden, J. M. (2009) Food composition. In *Introduction to Human Nutrition*, second edition, pp. 276-292. Gibney, M.J.; Lanham-New, S.A.; Cassidy, A,; Vorster, H.H. (eds.). The Nutrition Society Textbook Series. Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester, UK.

Schroeder, G. F.; Couderc, J. J.; Bargo, F.; Rearte, D. H. (2005) Milk production and fatty acid profile of milkfat by dairy cows fed a winter oats (*Avena sativa* L.) pasture only or a total mixed ration. *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research*, 48: 187-195.

Simopoulos, A. P. (2006) Evolutionary aspects of diet, the omega-6/omega-3 ratio and and genetic variation: nutritional implications for chronic diseases. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, 60: 502-507.

Simopoulos, A. P. (2008) The importance of the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio in cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 233: 674-688.

Simopoulos, A. P.; Salem, N. Jr (1992) Egg yolk as a source of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in infant feeding. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 55: 411-414.

Sirri, F.; Castellini, C.; Bianchi, M.; Petracci, M.; Meluzzi, A.; Franchini, A. (2011) Effect of fast-, medium- and slow-growing strains on meat quality of chickens reared under the organic farming method. *Animal*, 5: 312-319.

Slots, T.; Butler, G.; Leifert, C.; Kristensen, T.; Skibsted, L. H.; Nielsen, J. H. (2009) Potentials to differentiate milk composition by different feeding strategies. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 92: 2057-2066.

Soto, E.; Hoz, L. de la; Ordonez, J. A.; Herranz, B.; Hierro, E.; Lopez-Bote, C. J.; Cambero, M. I. (2009) The feeding and rearing systems of Iberian pigs affect the lipid composition and texture profile of dry-cured loin. *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences*, 18: 78-89.

Strain, J.J.; Cashman, K.D. (2009) Minerals and trace elements. In *Introduction to Human Nutrition*, second edition, pp. 188-237. Gibney, M.J.; Lanham-New, S.A.; Cassidy, A,; Vorster, H.H. (eds.). The Nutrition Society Textbook Series. Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester, UK.

Taylor Mayne, S. (1996) Beta-carotene, carotenoids, and disease prevention in humans. *FASEB Journal*, 10: 690-701.

Terra, S. la; Marino, V. M.; Manenti, M.; Licitra, G.; Carpino, S. (2010) Increasing pasture intakes enhances polyunsaturated fatty acids and lipophilic antioxidants in plasma and milk of dairy cows fed total mix ration. *Dairy Science and Technology*, 90: 687-698.

Trombetta, M. F.; Mattii, S.; Pasquini, M.; Falaschini, A. (2009) Influence of diet and rearing system on heavy pig performance, carcass and meat quality. *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, 8: 23-35.

Trziszka, T.; Dobrzanski, Z.; Oziemblowski, M.; Jarmoluk, A.; Krasnowska, G. (2004) An attempt to compare the quality of chicken eggs from cage system and ecological production. *Archiv für Geflügelkunde*, 68: 269-274.

Valvo, M. A.; Lanza, M.; Bella, M.; Fasone, V.; Scerra, M.; Biodi, L.; Priolo, A. (2005) Effect of ewe feeding system (grass v. concentrate) on intramuscular fatty acids of lambs raised exclusively on maternal milk. *Animal Science*, 81: 431-436.

Varela, A.; Oliete, B.; Moreno, T.; Portela, C.; Monserrat, L.; Carballo, J. A.; Sanchez, L. (2004) Effect of pasture finishing on the meat characteristics and intramuscular fatty acid profile of steers of the rubia gallega breed. *Meat Science*, 67: 515-522.

Vasseur, S.; Paull, D. R.; Atkinson, S. J.; Colditz, I. G.; Fisher, A. D. (2006) Effects of dietary fibre and feeding frequency on wool biting and aggressive behaviours in housed Merino sheep. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 46: 777-782.

Ventanas, S.; Ventanas, J.; Tovar, J.; Garcia, C.; Estevez, M. (2007) Extensive feeding versus oleic acid and tocopherol enriched mixed diets for the production of Iberian dry-cured hams: Effect on chemical composition, oxidative status and sensory traits. *Meat Science*, 77: 246-256.

Vliet, T. van; Katan, M. B. (1990) Lower ratio of n-3 to n-6 fatty acids in cultured than in wild fish. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 51: 1-2.

Wang, K. H.; Shi, S. R.; Dou, T. C.; Sun, H. J. (2009) Effect of free-range raising system on growth performance, carcass yield and meat quality of slow-growing chicken. *Poultry Science*, 88: 2219-2223.

White, S. L.; Bertrand, J. A.; Wade, M. R.; Washburn, S. P.; Green, J. T.; Jenkins, T. C. (2001) Comparison of fatty acid content of milk from Jersey and Holstein cows consuming pasture or a total mixed ration. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 84: 2295-2301.

World Cancer Research Fund (2011) *Red and processed meat and cancer prevention*. <u>http://www.wcrf-uk.org/cancer_prevention/recommendations/meat_and_cancer.php</u> (accessed 12/09/11).

Yang, A.; Lanari, M. C.; Brewster, M.; Tume, R. K. (2002) Lipid stability and meat colour of beef from pastureand grain-fed cattle with or without vitamin E supplement. *Meat Science*, 60: 41-50.

Yang, A.; Brewster, M. J.; Lanari, M. C.; Tume, R. K. (2002a) Effect of vitamin E supplementation on α tocopherol and β -carotene concentrations in tissues from pasture- and grain-fed cattle. *Meat Science*, 60: 35-40.

Zlender, B.; Holcman, A.; Stibilj, V.; Polak, T. (2000) Fatty acid composition of poultry meat from free range rearing. *Poljoprivredo (Agriculture)*, 6: 53-56.

NUTRITIONAL BENEFITS OF HIGHER WELFARE ANIMAL PRODUCTS

Published July 2012

For more information, please contact:

Compassion in World Farming, River Court, Mill Lane, Godalming, Surrey, GU7 1 EZ, UK

 Tel:
 +44 (0)1483 521 950

 Email:
 compassion@ciwf.org.uk

 Web:
 ciwf.org



Registered charity number 1095050.